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Moving Forward

The past year proved challenging for Nautilus Minerals  

as the Company, in order to conserve cash, terminated 

its non-critical contracts relating to the seafloor 

production system. Nautilus did however make 

significant progress in exploration including the 

discovery of more high grade SMS deposits in Tonga 

and the announcement of a major inferred maiden 

polymetallic nodule resource in the central Pacific 

Ocean. Nautilus is focused on “Moving Forward”  

as it steadily progresses with its objective to develop 

the deep water seafloor resource production industry.

Regarding forward-looking information:

“ This Annual Report includes forward-looking statements and information. The disclosure in the MD&A on page 28 under the heading “Cautionary 
Note Regarding Forward Looking Statements” also applies to the disclosure elsewhere in this Annual Report. In addition, regarding the use of 
proceeds of the rights offering, management will have broad discretion in this respect. While the Company intends to use the net proceeds as 
described, future results from the Company’s operations, external events or other sound business reasons may make it desirable for the Company 
to re-allocate some or all of the net proceeds. Management may use the net proceeds of the rights offering in ways that an investor may not 
consider desirable. The results and the effectiveness of the application of the proceeds are uncertain. If the proceeds are not applied effectively, 
the Company’s results of operations may suffer.”

Regarding forward-looking information:

“ Other than as specifically disclosed in respect of Tables 1, 2 and 4, the technical and scientific information in this Annual Report has been reviewed 
and approved by Michael David Johnston, President & CEO (interim) of the Company and a qualified person under NI 43-101.”
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This Annual Report is printed with the environment in mind using 
FSC® certified paper containing 10% post consumer recycled 
content and certified fiber, it’s the optimal environmental choice.
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Chairman's Letter

Dear Shareholder

2012 has proved a very difficult 
and testing year for our company, 
requiring a number of difficult 
decisions which have impacted heavily 
on staff and shareholders and will 
continue to test our resolve in the 
coming year.

Exploration work on seafloor massive 
sulfide deposits began in 1998 and 
has progressed systematically with 
our first project, Solwara 1, having 
obtained its Environmental Permit in 
December 2009 and Mining Lease in 
January 2011. 

In March 2011, the State of Papua 
New Guinea (PNG)  exercised its legal 
right to take up a 30% contributing 
interest in the Solwara 1 Project.  
Nautilus considers that the State 
has a contractual obligation to pay 
an amount of approximately $23.5 
million in respect of costs incurred 
in the development of the Solwara 
1 Project up to January 2011, and to 
make pro-rata capital contributions 
in respect of subsequent Project 
development costs which, at the 
end of December 2012 totalled 
approximately $61.2 million (excluding 
interest). The State disputes that it is 
required to meet such obligations at 
this time and in June 2012, issued a 
Notice of Arbitration to the Company. 
In order to continue the construction 
of the Seafloor Production System, 
Nautilus has been forced to carry the 
State’s share of Project development 
costs to date, with nearly 55% of the 
project now completed. Unfortunately, 
as an agreed commercial resolution 
with the State could not be achieved 
within the timeframe that Nautilus 
could reasonably continue to carry 
the total development costs for the 

Project, in order to preserve capital, 
in November 2012 Management and 
the Board of Directors of Nautilus 
decided to terminate construction of 
its Seafloor Production System. The 
Company was also forced to reduce 
staff numbers with approximately 60 
positions made redundant.

Notwithstanding these difficult 
circumstances, I remain optimistic 
that an amicable resolution with the 
State of PNG can be reached and the 
Project restarted.  Your directors and 
staff are actively seeking to resolve this 
dispute and complete the first project.

On a more positive note  Nautilus’ 
larger shareholders including 
Metalloinvest, MB Holding and Anglo 
American who hold between them 
approximately half of our outstanding 
shares have been incredibly 
supportive, taking part in a $34 million 
capital raising in September 2012.  
Further shareholder support has been 
demonstrated by MB Holding acting 
as standby purchaser in Nautilus’ 
recently announced fully backstopped 
$40 million Rights Offering. The net 
proceeds from the offering will be 
used by the Company to continue 
funding its three key contracts related 
to its Seafloor Production System, 
intended to be used at the Company’s 
Solwara 1 Project.

MB Holding founder and Chairman 
Dr. Mohammed Al Barwani joined the 
Nautilus board in September 2012. Dr. 
Al Barwani holds engineering degrees 
from the US and Edinburgh UK and 
is a member of the International 
SeaKeepers Society, an organization 
dedicated to the protection of the 
environment through the world’s 
oceans. MB Holding operates in 20 
countries, has 6,000 employees of 

51 nationalities and has an annual 

turnover in excess of US$1.2 billion.  

Dr. Al Barwani brings engineering 

and management skills in offshore 

production services and oil and gas 

production as well as land based 

mining of massive sulfide bodies  

in Oman.

In other jurisdictions your staff has had 

an exciting year with success in further 

defining new and seafloor massive 

sulfide deposits in the Kingdom of 

Tonga. Three new prospects were 

verified by Nautilus sampling in 2012 

around Tonga bringing the total 

number of prospects discovered to 

date to 19.  They have produced 

similar high grade copper-gold 

surface samples as seen at Solwara. 

In addition, Nautilus filed a NI 43-101 

Technical Report for its Central Pacific 

Clarion-Clipperton Zone Project, held 

through subsidiary Tonga Offshore 

Mining Limited. A highlight is the 

maiden mineral resource of around 

410 million wet tonnes of poly-

metallic nodules (details follow in the 

exploration section). Our engineers 

have preliminary design concepts for 

an innovative recovery method for this 

major nickel-copper–cobalt deposit 

located at 4,000-6,000 metre water 

depth and discussions have started 

with potential partners.

Finally I would like to thank our 

directors, management, staff, 

contractors and shareholders for 

their continuing support during these 

testing times. From my 30 years of 

experience in PNG, I believe it to be 

a good country in which to operate.  

I am therefore optimistic that any 

current issues will be resolved and the 

Solwara 1 Project will be a success.



“I am optimistic that 
any current issues 

will be resolved and 
the Solwara 1 Project 

will be a success.”
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Caption here

A. Geoffrey Loudon

Chairman, Nautilus Minerals Inc.

MV Duke.
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Q:    What is the nature of the 
dispute with the State of Papua 
New Guinea (PNG) and its 
current status?

A:     Nautilus considers that the State 
has a contractual obligation to 
pay an amount of approximately 
US$23.5 million with respect to 
costs incurred in the development 
of the Solwara 1 Project up 
to January 2011, and to make 
pro-rata capital contributions in 
respect of subsequent Project 
development costs which, at the 
end of December 2012 totalled 
approximately US$61.2 million 
(excluding interest). The State 
disputes that it is required to 
meet such obligations at this 
time.  In order to continue the 
construction of the Seafloor 
Production System, Nautilus was 
forced to carry the State’s share of 
Project development costs, which 
continues to date.

  The State issued Nautilus with a 
Notice of Arbitration on June 19, 
2012. While the arbitration process 
is continuing and an outcome is 
expected in Q3 2013 (subject to 
the arbitrator’s timing and other 
variables outside the company’s 
control), it has been Nautilus’ 
preference to resolve the dispute 
with the State by agreement 
and with that aim Nautilus has 
taken steps to meet with senior 
representatives of the State, 
including discussions with National 
Executive Council Ministers.  
Nautilus continues to engage with 
the State in an effort to resolve 
matters amicably.

Interview:Q&A 
with Mike Johnston

Bulk Cutter Chassis.
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Q:    If the situation in PNG doesn’t 
get resolved what is your plan 
moving forward?

A:     We believe that the dispute with 
the State will be concluded in 
the near future and our maiden 
project, Solwara 1, will advance 
quickly following resolution. 
Nautilus believes in the long term 
sustainability and growth of a robust 
deep sea mining industry that will 
be a major contributor to the world’s 
mineral production, especially 
copper. We intend to be the pioneer 
in its development. 

  Nautilus holds more than 500,000* 
square kilometres of highly 
prospective acreage in the western 
Pacific, in PNG, the Solomon 
Islands, Fiji, Vanuatu and Tonga as 
well as in international waters in the 
eastern Pacific, in an area called 
the Clarion-Clipperton Zone (CCZ). 
We have conducted extensive 
exploration in Tonga over the past 
two years, having verified three new 
prospects in Tonga during 2012 
and in addition have released a  
NI 43-101 Technical Report for a 
maiden mineral resource estimate 
for the polymetallic nodule project 
in the CCZ.

 * As of December 31, 2012.

Q:  What is the status of the 
Seafloor Production System and 
the Production Support Vessel?

A:     Most of the major components of 
the three Seafloor Production Tools 
(SPTs) have been manufactured 
and are now ready for assembly. 
Fabrication of the Launch and 
Recovery System (LARS) has been 
completed. Once assembled all 
components will be stored pending 
integration on to the vessel. 
Following the announcement in 
June 2012 regarding the difficulties 
faced by Harren & Partner, Nautilus 
has taken the opportunity to review 
the vessel design to enhance and 
define a vessel more suited to 
operations in other locations and 
environments.  The construction 
of the vessel will begin once there 
is sufficient certainty regarding 
funding.

Q:    How has Nautilus addressed 
the questions and issues raised 
about your Environmental 
Impact Statement for the 
Solwara 1 Project?

A:     Nautilus commissioned Coffey 
Natural Systems (now Coffey 
Environments), a specialist 
Environmental and Social 
Impact Assessment Consultancy 
experienced in PNG, to prepare the 
Environmental Impact Statement 
(EIS). Coffey has been in operation 
since 1974 with more than 100 
Environmental Impact Assessment 
projects completed. 

  Coffey concluded the Solwara EIS 
in 2008 after an extensive period 
of detailed deep sea biological 
and oceanographic research over 
a six month period. The EIS was 
exhibited for public and stakeholder 
comment through the statutory 
PNG process. The EIS was also 
subject to the independent peer 
review completed in 2009 by 
Cardno Lawson Treloar Pty Ltd 
(Cardno), an Australian-based 
consultancy engaged by the PNG 
Department of Environment  
and Conservation. 

  Cardno was able to access the 
relevant data from the EIS which 
was sufficient for them to run its 
own models in order to verify the 
EIS results for themselves. Their 
independent investigations 

  supported the findings of the 
maximum or worst-case scenarios 
as reported by the EIS. Most 
importantly, the independent 
reviewers engaged by the 
Department of Environment and 
Conservation confirmed that surface 
waters were not at threat from the 
planned operations. 

  Nautilus stands by the integrity of  
its EIS and takes its commitent to 
environmental responsibility  
very seriously.  

Q:    What are the advantages of 
seafloor mining?

A:     As the world’s demand for 
minerals continues to rise and 
as we reach economic and 
environmental limits to mining 
on land, we need to look at 
alternatives. Seafloor production 
offers many advantages over 
typical land based operations with 
higher grades compared to land, 
a small extraction footprint with 
reusable production infrastructure 
and the extraction will be 
done using proven technology 
adapted from other industries 
like the offshore oil and gas, 
telecommunication and dredging 
industries. In addition, unlike 
land based mines, there will be 
no blasting and relatively little 
removal of unwanted material 
covering the sought  
after deposits.

Mike Johnston

President and CEO (Interim),  
Nautilus Minerals Inc.
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SEAfLoor ProDuCtIoN tooLS 

Most of the components of the three 
Seafloor Production Tools (SPTs) 
have been manufactured and are 
now ready for assembly once the 
chassis are complete. Fabrication of 
the chassis for the three machines 
continued through 2012 with final 
machining of the Bulk Cutter (BC) 
chassis yet to be completed. Chassis 
for the Collecting Machine (CM) 
and Auxiliary Cutter (AC) are at 
fabrication stage. 

Caterpillar Inc. completed the design 
and build of the three track systems 
for the SPTs in their facilities in Italy 
and delivered same to Soil Machine 
Dynamics (SMD) in the UK.

Fabrication of the Launch and 
Recovery Systems (LARS) have been 
completed with the lift winches 

complete and tested at TMS Korea 
and the large portal frames of the 
LARS A frames fabricated and trial 
assemblies complete at Kopex 
Famago Poland.  

The equipment will be stored pending 
completion of the SPTs and availability 
of the Production Support Vessel. The 
Project remains 55% complete, with 
some aspects, such as the collecting 
machine, being up to 70% complete 
(as of December 31, 2012).

How they will work 
Rock is disaggregated on the 
seafloor by two large robotic 
machines that excavate material by 
a continuous cutting process, not 
unlike coal or other bulk continuous 
mining machines on land. The AC 
is a preparatory machine that deals 

with rough terrain and creates 
benches for the other machines to 
work. It will operate on tracks with 
spud assistance and has a boom 
mounted cutting head for flexibility. 
The second machine, the BC, has 
higher cutting capacity but will be 
limited to working benches created 
by the AC. Both machines leave 
cut material on the seafloor for 
collection by the CM. The CM, also 
a large robotic vehicle, will collect 
the cut material (sand, gravel, silt) 
by drawing it in as seawater slurry 
with internal pumps and pushing it 
through a flexible pipe to the Riser 
and Lifting System.

Project

Bulk Cutter Chassis (uK).



Left to Right

Lorna Doxsey - Contract Representative (SMD);

roland Berndt - Engineering Manager (Nautilus);

Glen Jones - Technical Services Manager (Nautilus);

Mick ridley - Principal Engineer (SMD);

Kevin Cain - VP Projects (Nautilus);

Paul Atkinson - Technology Director (SMD).

“During 2012 the Project 
team further advanced 

the development of 
the Seafloor Production 

System including the 
Seafloor Production Tools 

(SPTs) and the Riser and 
Lifting System (RALS).”
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LArS (Launch and recovery 
System) Scissor frame which 
will be used to stabalise the 
Seafloor Production tool(s) 
during deployment and 
retrieval (Poland).

Seafloor Production tool 
track unit now at SMD 
facility in Newcastle built 
by Caterpillar (Italy).
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rISEr AND LIftING SyStEM 

Core components of the Riser and 
Lifting System (RALS) have been 
manufactured and assembly is well 
progressed. Assembly of the Subsea 
Slurry Lift Pump (SSLP) was well 
progressed however, progress was 
impacted by the Company’s decision 
on November 13, 2012 to terminate 
the construction of the equipment 
for the Seafloor Production System 
to preserve the Company’s cash 
position. Discussions regarding 
revised completion of assembly and 
delivery are ongoing.

Full Scale Testing of the SSLP pump 
components continued through 
2012 to further demonstrate the 
capability of the elements of the 
pump assembly. Enhancements to 
the tests have been done to improve 
the simulation process and further 
testing is planned. 

Technip placed orders for 
the fabrication of the various 
components: derrick and riser 
handling systems, surface seawater 
pumps, pull in skids, riser transfer 
hoses and other ancillary equipment 
and connectors for the SPTs and 
the SSLP have been fabricated and 
delivered to Houston by Vector in the 
UK for incorporation into the SSLP.   

Steel pipe and forgings for the rigid 
riser system were manufactured 
during 2012 and are in fabrication 
in Houston USA. Buoyancy for the 
rigid riser was manufactured by 
Balmoral and is presently in storage 
in Balmorals facility in the UK. 
Discussions are ongoing to revise the 
fabrication and delivery of the rigid 
riser system.

Wear testing of the flexible riser 
transfer pipe is complete with very 
encouraging results. The design and 
manufacture of the transfer pipe has 
been rescheduled. 

How it will work 
The RALS comprises a large pump 
and rigid riser pipe supported 
from the vessel which delivers the 
slurry to the surface. The pump is 
supported on a solid vertical (riser) 
pipe suspended beneath the support 
vessel. The pipe is deployed to the 
seabed by a derrick and draw works 
system on board the vessel.

Mud Lift Pump built by GE 
oil and Gas for Chevron 
for deep water drilling 
applications (similar to 
the unit being built for 
Nautilus Minerals).

Chamber and valve banks of 
the Nautlus Subsea Slurry 
Lift Pump (GE oil and  
Gas Houston).
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ProDuCtIoN SuPPort VESSEL

Following the announcement in 
June 2012 regarding the difficulties 
faced by Harren & Partner, Nautilus 
has taken the opportunity to review 
the vessel design to enhance and 
define a vessel more suited to 
operations in other locations and 
environments. Design of the vessel 
has been completed with the basic 
design submitted for classification 
for a Multi Purpose Vessel with 

a length of 227m, beam of 40m, 
a deadweight capacity of 67,000 
tonnes and a transit speed of 12 
knots. Power generation remains at 
30MW and accommodation for 180 
people is included. Model testing 
and dynamic analysis simulations 
have been completed which confirm 
the enhanced station keeping and 
performance characteristics.

How it will work  
On deck of the production support 
vessel, the slurry is dewatered. 
The dewatered solid material is 
discharged to a transportation vessel 
moored alongside. Filtered seawater 
is pumped back to the seafloor 
through the riser pipes and provides 
hydraulic power to operate the 
RALS pump. Discharge of the return 
water at the seafloor will minimize 
the environmental impact of the 
operation.

frame of the Subsea 
Slurry Lift Pump (GE oil 
and Gas Houston).

riser Pipe being 
manufactured at tKM 
(russia) under sub contract 
to GMC (General Marine 
Contractors).
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Exploration

SEAfLoor MASSIVE SuLfIDES

Nautilus continued to advance 
Seafloor Massive Sulfide (SMS) 
exploration projects around the  
south-west Pacific in a series of 
exploration campaigns. Several 
exciting new systems were discovered 
or verified through the recovery 
of high grade samples and high 
resolution geophysics.

Seismic and Multibeam Surveying 
in the Bismark Sea of Papua New 
Guinea (PNG) 
In 2012 exploration activity began with 
a 2D and 3D seismic data acquisition 
program on Nautilus’ exploration 
and mining licences in the Bismarck 
Sea of PNG; the Solwara 1, 5 and 
12 prospects being the focus for 3D 
seismic surveying.

From February to April 2012, Nautilus 
conducted an exploration campaign 
in the Bismarck Sea onboard the 
MV Duke. It included 15 days of 
multibeam mapping over some of the 
most prospective unmapped areas of 
the Bismarck Sea, resulting in  
8,769 km2 coverage of seafloor 
bathymetry and backscatter data.

The vessel mounted multibeam 
data collected is believed to be the 
highest resolution ever collected 
from the surface in the Bismarck Sea, 
allowing detailed interpretation of 
seafloor features over a very large 
area. The seismic tests also showed 
good penetration and a high level of 
detail in the sub seafloor. Processing 
of the data was challenged by the 
rugged terrain and complex hard 
rock environment, but current 
results look promising in that they 
reveal significant detail beneath the 
seafloor. Interpretation of the data in 
conjunction with drilling results and 
other seafloor geophysical data  
is ongoing. 

Preliminary results show that sub 
seafloor structure is well imaged, 
which should enable refining of the 
geometry of the seafloor deposit. 
Further investigation of the seismic 
data is being undertaken by third 
parties through the Deep Exploration 
Technologies Cooperative Research 
Centre (DET- CRC), which may enable 
greater discrimination between 
seafloor sulfide deposits and 
surrounding lithology rocks.

Interpretation of the regional 
multibeam data has facilitated the 
rationalisation of tenements in the 
Bismarck sea.  It is also contributing to 
the design of Automated Underwater 
Vehicle/Remotely Operated Vehicle 
(ROV) grids for future SMS targeting 
campaigns in PNG.

reconnaissance Campaign through 
fiji and Wallis and futuna 
In May and June 2012, Nautilus 
participated in a 25 day marine 
science research campaign on board 
the RV Southern Surveyor, through 
Northern Fiji and Wallis & Futuna. The 
campaign was led by Chief Scientist 
Prof. Richard Arculus, of the Australian 
National University to examine 
previously un-explored areas, or areas 
lacking high quality regional data.  
Multibeam, dredging and vertical cast 
plume hunting techniques were used 
to assist in the understanding of the 
tectonic and volcanic regime of  
the area.

The RV Southern Surveyor campaign 
collected some of the first detailed 
bathymetry and geochemical data 
in the area, assisting in developing 
a detailed geological model and 
providing Nautilus with priority targets 
for further SMS exploration.

Twenty days of the campaign were 
carried out in Fiji and five within 
Wallis & Futuna. In total, 15,605 km2 
of seafloor mapping, 48 successful 
dredges and 25 successful vertical 
hydro-casts were conducted. Twelve 
operational days including  
4,805 km2 of multibeam bathymetry 
and backscatter mapping, were 
completed over Nautilus tenements. 
The volcanic rocks dredged from 
these locations provide information 
on the volcanic and hydrothermal 
activity occurring on and beneath the 
ocean floor. The data reveals multiple 
prospective areas for further  
SMS investigation.

tonga Exploration  
During September 2012, Nautilus 
participated in a marine science 
research campaign on board the RV 
Roger Revelle in the territorial waters 
of Tonga. The campaign formed 
a single leg of National Oceanic 
and Atmospheric Administration’s 
(NOAA) extensive Submarine Ring 
of Fire 2012 program, and was led by 
chief scientist Dr Joe Resing (JISAO 
University of Washington, Seattle WA.)

This 18 day campaign concentrated 
research efforts within the north east 
(NE) Lau Basin and is the latest in a 
series of expeditions to explore the 
submarine volcanoes of the Western 
Pacific. The primary objective of the 
campaign was to explore and to 
characterize the environment and its 
biology in the NE Lau basin through 
examination of geology, chemistry, 
and macro- and micro- biology. 
Multiple exploration techniques were 
adopted including ROV, multibeam, 
magnetics, and water chemistry 
plume hunting.



Nautilus Minerals Geologist.
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“Despite cost 
restrictions, 2012 

saw Nautilus continue 
to innovate with the 

world’s first marine hard 
rock 3D seismic survey in 

Papua New Guinea.”

13
NAUTILUS MINERALS INC.  2012 ANNUAL REPORT



NAUTILUS MINERALS INC.  2012 ANNUAL REPORT

14

The ROV was used for; observations 
of seafloor structure and 
geomorphology; rock and sulfide 
sampling; gas, fluid and biological 
sampling; and temperature 
measurements. The area visited had 
variable existing data, however, the 
campaign visited many previously 
identified Nautilus Minerals targets. 
Therefore, one of the principal aims 
was to confirm the occurrence of 
sulfides at these targets by 
collecting samples.

In November 2012, Nautilus Minerals 
announced the results of ROV dives 
on Nautilus granted tenements. 
Three new prospects were verified 
by the sampling; Fonualei, Mata and 
Tahi Moana 8*. Sulfide samples were 
collected at each site returning best 
assays of 11.9% Cu, 59.8% Zn, 28.6 g/
ton Au and 673 g/t Ag. Table 1 shows 
the full assay results.

These discoveries further highlight 
the prospectivity of Nautilus’ Tongan 
exploration tenements, particularly 
the high copper and gold grades 
being identified in the NE Lau Basin. 

Seafloor Massive Sulfides 
Mineral resources 
As reported in the 2011 annual 
report, Nautilus’ SMS resource 
estimate was updated, resulting in 
an 18% boost to the total resource 
tonnage at Solwara 1. The resource 
update also revealed an increase in 
contained copper, and importantly 
higher grades in high grade ore 
zones indentified during the 
2010/2011 drilling campaign. At this 

time, a maiden inferred resource was 
also declared at Nautilus’ Solwara 12 
deposit located 25km north-west of 
Solwara 1. See Table 2 for details.

For further details refer to the  
NI 43-101 Technical Report dated 
March 23, 2012 entitled “Mineral 

Resource Estimate, Solwara Project, 
Bismarck Sea, PNG” prepared by 
Golder Associates Pty Ltd, which can 
be downloaded from the Canadian 
Securities  Administrators database 
SEDAR (www.sedar.com).

table 2 
Nautilus Minerals resource 2011, as prepared by Golder Associates Pty Ltd.

Solwara 1 Class
tonnes  

(kt) 
Cu 
(%)

Au  
(g/t)

Ag  
(g/t)

Zn  
(%)

Contained 
Cu (t)

Contained 
Au (Koz)

2011 Indicated 1,030 7.2 5.0 23 0.4 74,160 165.6

@ 2.6% Cu eq cut off Inferred 1,540 8.1 6.4 34 0.9 124,740 316.9

         

Solwara 12         

2011 

@ 2.6% Cu eq  cut off Inferred 230 7.3 3.6 56 3.6 16,790 26.6

Resource Estimate prepared by Ian Lipton, BSc (Hons), FAus IMM, Principal Geologist, Golder Associates Pty Ltd,  
a qualified person as defined by National Instrument 43-101. Effective Date: March 23, 2012.

table 1   

full Assay results

Sample No Prospect Au (g/t) Ag (g/t) Cu (%) Zn (%)

25114
Fonualei 
South 1

3.8 31 4.5 5.7

25115
Fonualei 
South 1

12.9 556 3.8 43.5

25113
Fonualei 
South 2

28.6 673 0.9 59.8

25120 Mata Fitu 2.5 624 0.1 15.5

25122 Mata Fitu 3.7 6 0.8 0.3

25127 Mata Fitu 11.9 218 0.4 14.6

25124 Mata Tolu 11.0 82 0.9 3.1

25125 Mata Tolu 9.8 134 0.3 11.3

25126 Mata Tolu 5.1 37 3.7 0.9

25128 Mata Tolu 9.9 34 1.2 0.7

25117 Mata Ua 10.3 112 11.9 6.5

25073* Tahi Moana 8 12.85 294 0.386 37.5 

25074* Tahi Moana 8 23.4 504  0.395 24.1 

25075* Tahi Moana 8 16.25 666 0.353 16.5
 

* Dredge sample.

The exploration results reported in this table have been compiled under the supervision 
of Jonathan Lowe, Exploration Manager of Nautilus Minerals. Mr Lowe is a Fellow and 
Chartered Professional of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, has over 18 
years experience in exploration geology, and is a qualified person as defined by National 
Instrument 43-101.
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tenement Holdings 
Holdings as of December 31, 2012 are summarised in Table 3 and illustrated in the South West Pacific region 
tenemant map below.

table 3 
Nautilus Minerals, tenement Holdings

Location No. total area Granted
Granted Area 

(km2) Applications
Application Area 

(km2)

PNG -  
Bismarck Sea

83 74,373 47 32,069 36 42,304

PNG -  
Woodlark Area

6 7,062 3 962 3 6,100

PNG -  
New Ireland Arc

5 12,788 0 0 5 12,788

Solomon Islands 80 40,853 80 40,853 0 0

Tonga 46 209,441 16 77,563 30 131,878

Fiji 15 60,370 15 60,370 0 0

New Zealand 1 52,818 0 0 1 52,818

Vanuatu 55 4,877 41 3,630 14 1,247

Azores 6 5,904 0 0 6 5,904

ISA - CCZ nodules 1 74,713 1 74,713 0 0

totAL 298 543,198 203 290,159 95 253,039
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table 4: Inferred Mineral resource Estimate for the toML Areas A-D within the CCZ at a series of Nodule 
Abundance cut-offs.

Abundance 
Cut-off 
(wet kg/m2)

Abundance 
(wet kg/m2)

Ni 
(%)

Co 
(%)

Cu 
(%)

Mn 
(%)

Polymetallic 
Nodules 

(x106 wet t)

4 8.9 1.2 0.24 1.1 26.9 440

5 9.1 1.2 0.24 1.1 26.9 420

6 9.4 1.2 0.24 1.1 26.9 410

7 9.8 1.2 0.24 1.1 26.8 370

8 10.4 1.2 0.24 1.0 26.7 310
 
NOTE 1: Resource estimates prepared by Mr Matthew Nimmo, Principal Geologist, Golder Associates Pty Ltd, Milton, Queensland, 
Australia. Mr Nimmo is a Member of the Australian Institute of Geoscientists, a full time employee of Golder, and fulfils the requirements to 
be a “qualified person” for the purposes of NI 43-101. 
NOTE 2: The resource is classified as inferred. As the nodules effectively form a single layer on the seafloor “abundance” (kg/m2) is used 
rather than volume to define the mineral resource tonnage.

PoLyMEtALLIC NoDuLE MINErAL 
rESourCE

Tonga Offshore Mining Limited 
(TOML), a wholly owned subsidiary of 
Nautilus, achieved two key milestones 
in securing and advancing this large 
mineral resource.

Granting of Exploration Contract 
In January 2012 TOML formally 
signed an agreement with the 
International Seabed Authority (ISA) 
for an exploration tenement in the 
Central Pacific. The ISA, which is the 
international authority responsible for 
administering activity on the seafloor 
in areas beyond national jurisdiction, 
granted the licence to TOML in 
July 2011 for an area in the Clarion- 
Clipperton Fracture Zone (CCZ). 

The agreement gives TOML exclusive 
rights to conduct exploration 
activities in six sub-blocks totalling 
approximately 75,000 km2 of the 
CCZ, midway between Hawaii and 
Mexico, in the Central Pacific. The 
area is known to contain polymetallic 
nodules rich in copper, nickel, 
manganese and cobalt and are found 
at depths between 4500 and 6000 
metres. They also contain relatively 
high concentrations of Rare Earth 
Elements (REEs).  The formal grant 
of the exploration licence confirms 
TOML as one of the first private sector 
companies to be granted exploration 
territory in international waters by the 
ISA. The licence is for an initial period 
of 15 years from January 2012 and is 
sponsored by the Kingdom of Tonga.

Publication of a Maiden Mineral 
resource Estimate prepared in 
accordance with NI 43-101 
In September 2012 TOML released 
an independent NI 43-101 mineral 
resource estimate for the CCZ 
polymetallic nodule property located 
within the Central Pacific Ocean. This 
represents another first for TOML 
and Nautilus Minerals in that it is the 
first resource estimate prepared in 
accordance with NI 43-101 to  
be published from this world  
class terrain.

This maiden mineral resource 
estimate for TOML property in 
the CCZ highlights the enormous 
potential of seafloor resources. The 
advance in processing and offshore 
technologies over the last 20 years 
has helped to make the extraction 
of these significant resources 
technically conceivable. The reduced 
environmental and social disturbance 
associated with deep sea mineral 
production, plus the development 
of a strong regulatory framework by 
the International Seabed Authority 
since 1994 are key elements that set 
this project apart from large land 
based resource developments. TOML 
and Nautilus Minerals are leading 
the development of this enormous, 
currently untapped potential on  
the seafloor.

For further details please refer to the 
technical report dated March 20, 2013 
entitled “Updated NI 43-101 Technical 
Report, Clarion-Clipperton Zone 
Project, Pacific Ocean”, prepared by 
Golder Associates Pty Ltd. This can 
be downloaded from the Canadian 
Securities Administrators database 
SEDAR (www.sedar.com).

tECHNoLoGy

Drilling technology 
In 2012, Nautilus continued a market 
engagement with seafloor drilling 
tool suppliers, both to keep abreast 
of the latest drill technologies, 
as well as to ensure that the 
specific requirements for drilling 
improvements in the difficult terrain 
of mineralised seafloor hard rock 
environments are being addressed 
by commercial providers.

research Collaboration 
Nautilus Minerals is an affiliate 
member of the DET- CRC, which is a 
research organisation collaboratively 
funded by industry and the 
Australian government, with an aim 
of addressing major challenges 
of reducing cost and increasing 
efficiency of exploring for mineral 
deposits at depth. The research 
programs cover drilling, logging and 
sensing, and targeting. Many of the 
individual research projects overlap 
with challenges of seafloor mineral 
exploration.

Down Hole tools 
Down hole tools are used extensively 
in the offshore oil and gas and 
terrestrial drilling industries as a 
means of measuring in-situ data. 
Specific to seafloor deposits, down 
hole tools have the potential to 
improve knowledge of the seafloor 
deposits in situ, and could offer 
significant increases to exploration 
productivity through optimisation of 
future drilling programs. During 2012, 
Nautilus undertook development of 
geochemical and geophysical down 
hole tools with a geophysical multi 
tool being completed and ready for 
deployment on December 2012.



“Nautilus Minerals through 
its subsidiary TOML, are 

leading the development 
of this enormous, currently 

untapped potential on  
the seafloor.”

MV Duke.
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Corporate 
Social Responsibility 

During 2012 Nautilus continued to 
advance best practices for responsible 
environmental management, 
participated in international 
conferences, engaged with local 
communities and continued with 
safety initiatives. 

NAutILuS CArES

Nautilus CARES is a program launched 
in 2007 that governs the way we work 
at Nautilus. CARES is part of our 
value system and it’s about being 
Community Accountable, Responsible 
Environmentally and Safe in every 
decision we make and in every action 
we take.     

CoMMuNIty ACCouNtABLE 

We have consulted extensively with 
communities in Papua New Guinea 
(PNG) since 2006 and in Tonga since 
2008. To date we have visited 56 
different villages in both PNG and 
Tonga, met and heard the views of more 
than 22,000 people and conducted 
regular meetings with the relevant 
Provincial and National Governments. 

In 2013 the Nautilus CARES team will 
continue to maintain an open and 
consistent channel of communication 
with the communities of PNG  
and Tonga. 

Supporting Education and Health

Participation in Nautilus Minerals 
Exploration Campaign 
As part of our commitment to 
contribute to the local communities 
where we work, Nautilus provides 
educational opportunities and 
encourages local participation in  
our activities. 

In the first quarter of 2012, we 
conducted an exploration campaign in 
the Bismarck Sea and an opportunity 
to join this campaign was given to Mr. 
Hilary Tevita Meria, a third year student 
at the Kavieng Fisheries College of New 
Ireland Province. Mr. Meria joined the 
exploration team as a Marine Animal 
Observer and was responsible for 
logging any sightings and behaviours 
of marine animals spotted during 
the campaign. Participation in the 
exploration campaign formed part of 
the work experience component of Mr. 
Meria’s diploma. 

“ I can be honest to say that this 
work experience offshore is a one 
in a million opportunity for such 
students...I am very proud as a New 
Irelander to be in the exploration 
of the minerals within the provincial 
waters. I also recommend my fellow 
students to be a part of this program 
to experience what I’ve experienced 
and to be part of this exciting new 
industry in the future.”

   Mr. Hilary Tevita Meria, a third year 
student from the Kavieng Fisheries 
College in New Ireland Province

Nautilus Minerals – Duke university 
opportunity Bursary  
Freddie Alei is the fourth recipient of 
the Nautilus Minerals – Duke University 
Opportunity Bursary. In 2012, Mr Alei 
who comes from New Ireland Province 
in Papua New Guinea spent six months 
at Duke University, USA, learning state-
of-the-art marine science techniques 
and working in the marine science 
laboratory under the guidance of Dr 
Cindy Lee Van Dover, a world-renowned 
expert in hydrothermal vent ecology.  
Mr Alei is now based at the University of 
PNG as a full-time lecturer.

” It’s very interesting to me because 
this is real science I am doing, trying 
to discover new things about the 
species I’m studying (Munidopsis sp 
– a tiny lobster) and its relationships 
with other marine species. It is a great 
achievement for myself and for Papua 
New Guineans to know that we do 
have people with specialized training 
in the area of pure science  
and research.”

   Freddie Alei, 2012  Nautilus Minerals– 
Duke University Opportunity  
Bursary recipient

EcoCArES 
In partnership with EcoCARES Pacific 
Trust, Nautilus continues to support 
the study of science in Tongan schools 
by sponsoring the annual National 
High School Science Competition. A 
key aim of the event is to promote and 
encourage further education. Nautilus 
has proudly sponsored this event since 
2009 and will continue its support  
in 2013.

Community Development fund 
Together with a locally selected steering 
group, Nautilus Minerals will develop a 
Community Development Fund that will 
receive two Kina per tonne of ore mined. 
We will work closely with the Provincial 
Government of New Ireland and other 
island provinces to identify community 
priorities to ensure alignment with their 
development objectives and plans. It is 
the company’s desire to leave a positive 
legacy that aligns with the long term 
goals of Papua New Guinea.  

Port Moresby City Mission 
Nautilus Minerals continues to provide 
funding to support the work of the Port 
Moresby City Mission. Under a five year 
program launched in 2009 Nautilus 
made a donation of $US100,000 to 
assist in improving the opportunities for 
disadvantaged youths and young adults 
through accommodation services and 
job training & assistance.



freddie Alei, 2012 Nautilus Minerals 
– Duke University Opportunity 

Bursary recipient.

“It is a great achievement 
for myself and for Papua 

New Guineans to know 
that we do have people 

with specialized training in 
the area of pure science  

and research. ”
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rESPoNSIBLE ENVIroNMENtALLy

Nautilus hosts workshop to develop 
the Environmental Management 
Plan (EMP) for Solwara 1 
Nautilus continues its transparent, 
inclusive and science-based approach 
to responsible environmental 
management. On 18-19 February 
2012, Nautilus Minerals held a multi-
stakeholder expert workshop in Salt 
Lake City, USA, to begin to develop 
the Solwara 1 EMP and monitoring 
program for the Solwara 1 Project.  

The goal of the workshop was to 
identify the elements required for 
inclusion in the EMP. Delegates, which 
included representatives from the 
Government of PNG, marine scientists, 
Non Government Organizations 
(NGOs), the International Seabed 
Authority, and other groups, were 
asked to review and identify the goals, 
data requirements, mitigation and 
management measures, recovery 
and rehabilitation options and 
monitoring requirements for the 
Solwara 1 Project. The information 
and feedback obtained will be used 
in the development of the EMP and 
monitoring programs for Solwara 1. 

Deep Sea restoration 
Nautilus together with Duke 
University is working on a project 
entitled “Responsible Environmental 
Management in the Deep Sea: 
Connectivity and Restoration”, which 

is Part 1 of a long-term (5 year +) 
program which will involve nations 
(like PNG and Tonga) hosting Nautilus 
projects. It has been recognised that 
missing to date from the discussion 
of the stewardship of the deep ocean 
is ecological restoration and together 
Nautilus and Duke University along 
with experts from various related 
fields have opened this discourse, 
with the hope of improving the 
management of deep sea resources 
(not just minerals) in the future. An 
expert workshop was held in France 
November 12 -16, 2012 with a planned 
deliverable of a peer-reviewed 
publication of a position paper with 
recommendations related to deep-
sea restoration. This is not only a 
wonderful example of what can be 
achieved through industry-academic 
partnerships, but it is also an example 
of how Nautilus is leading the way in 
terms of corporate responsibility. One 
workshop participant, a restoration 
expert, said “In my 30 years of 
restoration, rarely have I run across a 
company that has the environmental 
ethical and progressive mindset as 
Nautilus Minerals”.

Assessment Steering Committee  
Nautilus continues to be involved in 
the EU-funded Deep Sea Minerals 
Project which is being administered 
by the SOPAC division of the 
Secretariat of the Pacific Community 
(SPC). Current involvement is as 

a member of the “Assessment 
Steering Committee”, facilitated by 
the United Nations Environmental 
Program (UNEP), which is tasked 
with developing a series of papers 
for South Pacific countries outlining 
key issues related to Deep Sea 
Minerals.  Nautilus has been pleased 
to be involved and share its deep 
sea technology and environmental 
expertise for the benefit of South 
Pacific countries considering deep  
sea mineral development.  

SAfEty 

Our goal is “zero incidents, zero 
injuries.” Everyone at Nautilus is 
committed to this goal and in 2012 
we continued to develop initiatives 
to maintain our stellar safety record.  
These include: 

•   Ongoing hazard and behavioural 
observation and reporting

•   Regular training and information 
sessions on various safety issues 
(e.g. malaria prevention)  

•  Risk and hazard training workshops 

Our total recordable case frequency 
rate (reportable incidence 
rate) was better than the IMCA 
(International Marine Contractors 
Association) standard. The IMCA is 
the international trade association 
representing offshore marine and 
underwater engineering companies.
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“I can be honest to say 
that this work experience 

offshore is a one in a 
million opportunity for 

such students. ”

Nautilus Minerals Environmental 
Scientist with Mr Hilary tevita 

Meria, a third year student from the 
Kavieng fisheries College in New 
Ireland on board the MV Duke on 

the lookout for marine animals.
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Stephen rogers 
(Non-Executive Director)

Mr. Rogers is the Senior Vice President, Sunrise Business 
Unit, at Woodside Energy Ltd.  Mr. Rogers was the President 
& CEO of the Company from June 2008 to October 2012 
after having joined Nautilus in 2007 as Chief Development 
Officer, responsible for the definition and execution of the 
Solwara 1 Project. He has over 35 years of experience in the 
offshore industry with a background in corporate and project 
management having worked previously with Clough (one of 
Australia’s leading engineering and construction companies) 
as CEO Oil and Gas, and prior to that he was MD of Technip 
Oceania, Europe’s leading oil and gas services group and one 
of the world’s leading deepwater subsea contractors.

   

Geoff Loudon 
(Chairman and Non-Executive Director)

Geoff Loudon is a New Zealand based resource 
professional with qualifications in geology and engineering. 
His extensive international experience covers resource 
exploration, development and production as well as 
investment banking. Mr. Loudon has worked worldwide 
including Australasia, Asia, the Americas and Europe.

Geoff Loudon is Executive Chairman of the private New 
Zealand based L&M Group of minerals and energy 
companies as well as Chairman of ASX and NZX listed 
hydrocarbon explorer L&M Energy. He is a director of the 
Papua New Guinea based PNG City Mission.

Mr. Loudon was founder and Chairman of Niugini Mining 
Limited, discoverer of the Lihir gold deposit in PNG which 
was developed by Rio Tinto in 1995. Mr. Loudon was a 
founding director of Lihir Gold Limited from inception in 
1995 until it was taken over in 2010.

Professional affiliations include Fellow of the Society of 
Economic Geologists, Fellow of the Australasian Institute of 
Mining and Metallurgy, Member of the Canadian Institute 
of Mining and Member of the American Institute of Mining 
and Exploration.

1

Board of Directors 

2
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russell Debney  
(Non-Executive Director)

Mr. Debney was Chairman of the Board of Directors of 
Nautilus Minerals Niugini Limited and Nautilus Minerals 
Oceania Limited prior to the acquisition of those companies 
by Nautilus. He has been actively involved in Nautilus’ 
development strategy, almost since inception. He is based in 
Sydney, Australia and is a commercial and corporate lawyer as 
well as a Director of a number of companies in the mining and 
resources industry. 

Mr. Debney has extensive experience in the management, 
financing and structuring of resource projects, particularly in 
the offshore environment. He was a Director and Senior Vice 
President of the Global Engineering Group, a world leading 
offshore oil and gas engineering company for almost 15 
years. Mr. Debney is currently Managing Director and Chief 
Executive Officer of Direct Nickel Limited, an ASX-listed 
mining company with a revolutionary new hydrometallurgical  

process for treating nickel laterites. 

Matthew Hammond 
(Non-Executive Director)

Mr. Hammond is the Group Managing Director of Mail.ru,  
one of Russia’s largest internet companies where he has been 
a director since 2010.  Before that he was the Group Strategist 
at Metalloinvest Holdings, where he had responsibility for part 
of the non-core asset portfolio and advised the Metalloinvest 
Board on strategic acquisitions and investments.

Prior to joining Metalloinvest, Mr. Hammond was a Director 
at Credit Suisse, where he worked for 12 years. He has a BA 
(Hons) from Bristol University in economics and history. As 
a non-executive director he also sits on the boards of Strike 
Resources and Puricore Plc. 

Cynthia thomas 
(Non-Executive Director)

Ms. Thomas joined the Board of Directors in June 2010. 
She has 30 years of banking and mine finance experience, 
and currently acts as Principal of Conseil Advisory Services 
Inc. (“Conseil”), an independent financial advisory 
firm specialising in the natural resource industry which 
she founded in 2000. Prior to founding Conseil, Ms. 
Thomas worked with Bank of Montreal, Scotiabank and 
ScotiaMcLeod in the corporate and investment banking 
divisions. Ms. Thomas holds a Bachelor of Commerce 
degree from the University of Toronto and a Masters in 
Business Administration from the University of Western 
Ontario. Ms. Thomas was formerly a Director of PolyMet 
Mining Corp. and a Director and Chair of the Audit 
Committee for Ferrinov Inc., a private corporation. She is 
currently a Director and Chair of Victory Nickel Inc., and a 
Director of KWG Resources Inc.

Dr. Mohammed Al Barwani  
(Non-Executive Director)

Dr. Al Barwani joined the Board in September 2012. He is 
founder and Chairman of MB Holding Co. LLC (MB Group), 
has a Bachelor’s Degree in Science from Miami University, 
Ohio, USA, and has a Master’s Degree and PhD in Petroleum 
Engineering from Herriott-Watt University, Edinburgh, UK.

Dr. Mohammed Al Barwani worked as a petroleum engineer 
for Petroleum Development Oman from 1976 to 1986. He 
founded MB Petroleum Services in 1986, Petrogas in 1999, 
Mawarid Mining in 1987, acquired United Engineering 
Services in 2007 and Oceanco in 2010. Today MB Holding 
is the parent company of a number of companies with 
wide ranging interests in Oilfield services, Exploration and 
Production of hydrocarbon, mining & minerals, engineering 
& manufacturing and Investments. The Group has operations 
in 20 countries, 6,000 employees of 51 nationalities and 
generates revenues in excess of US$ 1.2 billion. Dr. Al Barwani 
is also the Chairman of Musstir, a property, hotels and resorts 
development company.

Dr. Al Barwani is non-executive Chairman of two publicly 
listed companies, Transgulf Holding and Al Madina Insurance, 
and is a member of the Board of Oman Air (the National 
airline), formerly was a member of Boards of National Bank of 
Oman (1986-2005), Shell Oman Marketing Company (1987-
2005) and Taageer Leasing Company (2001-2006). He is the 
Honorary Consul of the Republic of Poland to the Sultanate 
of Oman and he is a member of the International SeaKeepers 
Society, a group dedicated to the protection of Ocean’s  
eco-systems and its environment.

Dr. Al Barwani was conferred “COMMANDEUR” IN DE ORDE 
VAN ORANGE-NASSAU by Her Majesty the Queen of The 
Netherlands in January, 2012.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(US dollars, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards)

The following Management Discussion and Analysis 
(“MD&A”) has been prepared as at March 15, 2013 for the 
period ended December 31, 2012.  It includes references 
to United States dollars, Canadian dollars, Papua New 
Guinea kina, United Kingdom pounds sterling and euros.  
All dollar amounts referenced, unless otherwise indicated, 
are expressed in United States dollars and the Canadian 
dollars are referred to as C$, Papua New Guinea kina are 
referred to as PGK, United Kingdom pounds sterling are 
referred to as £ and euros are referred to as €.

The MD&A of Nautilus Minerals Inc. (the “Company”, 
“NMI” or “Nautilus”) should be read in conjunction with 
the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements 
for the full year ended December 31, 2012, and related 
notes thereto (the “2012 Financial Statements”) which 
have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

Amounts for the full year ended December 31, 2012 
and 2011 have been presented in accordance with IFRS.  
Unless otherwise indicated, all amounts in this MD&A are 
in accordance with IFRS.

This section contains forward-looking statements that 
involve risks and uncertainties.  The Company’s actual 
results may differ materially from those discussed in 
forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, 
including, but not limited to those described under 
“Forward-Looking Information.”

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD 
LOOKING STATEMENTS

This document includes “forward-looking statements” 
which include all statements other than statements of 
historical fact. 

Forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, 
statements with respect to the future price of copper, gold 
and other metals, the estimation of mineral resources, the 
realization of mineral resource estimates, the timing and 
amount of estimated future production, the resolution 
of the dispute with PNG, the resolution of the change in 
funding requirements from Harren & Partner, the fulfillment 
of the obligations under the Tongling sales agreement 
and the timing and sustainability of such arrangements, 
costs of production, capital expenditures, costs and 
timing of the development of the seafloor production 
system including its re-commencement, the Bismarck Sea 
prospects (including Solwara 1) and new deposits, success 

of exploration and development activities, permitting time 
lines, currency fluctuations, requirements for additional 
capital (including financing to support the production 
of the PSV), government regulation of exploration 
operations, completion of acquisitions, the Company’s 
financial position, business strategy, plans and objectives 
of management for future operations, the design and 
performance of the PSV, SPTs and RALS, the purchase of 
the PSV and limitations on insurance coverage. In certain 
cases, forward-looking statements can be identified by 
the use of words such as “plans”, “expects” or “does 
not expect”, “is expected”, “budget”, “scheduled”, 
“estimates”, “forecasts”, “intends”, “anticipates” or 
“does not anticipate”, or “believes”, or variations of such 
words and phrases or statements that certain actions, 
events or results “may”, “could”, “would”, “might” or 
“will be taken”, “occur” or “be achieved”.  Forward-
looking statements involve known and unknown risks, 
uncertainties and other factors which may cause the actual 
results, performance or achievements of the Company to 
be materially different from any future results, performance 
or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-
looking statements.  Such factors include, among others, 
risks related to joint venture operations; the risk that the 
arbitration with the State of PNG will result in a significant 
further delay in commencing production at Solwara 
1; risks related to the identification of an alternative 
vessel arrangement; changes in project parameters as 
plans continue to be refined; future prices of copper, 
gold and other metals being lower than expected; the 
over-arching risk that the Company will not commence 
production of mineralized material; and possible variations 
in resources, grade or recovery rates; late delivery of 
the PSV, SPTs, RALS or other equipment, assuming the 
full development of the seafloor production system is 
re-commenced; variations in the cost of the PSV, SPTs, 
RALS or other equipment; variations in exchange rates; 
the failure to obtain the required equity funding or to 
obtain the approval of the TSX; State of PNG, Petromin 
or Nautilus failing to secure required debt or equity 
funding; payment default by JV partners or Tongling; 
adverse finding at arbitration; changes in the cost of fuel 
and other inflationary factors; failure of plant, equipment 
or processes to operate as anticipated; accidents, labour 
disputes and other risks of the mining industry; delays in 
obtaining governmental approvals or financing or in the 
completion of development or construction activities.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(US dollars, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards)

OUR BUSINESS

Overview 
Nautilus is a seafloor resource exploration company and 
the first company to commercially explore the ocean floor 
for copper, gold, silver and zinc deposits.  The Company’s 
main focus is to create shareholder value by demonstrating 
the seafloor production system and establishing a pipeline 
of development projects to maximize the value of mineral 
licenses and exploration applications that Nautilus holds in 
various locations in the Pacific Ocean. 

Nautilus’ seafloor production system has the potential to 
open a new frontier of resource development as land-
based mineral deposits continue to be depleted.  Nautilus 
plans to become the world’s first seafloor producer of 
copper and gold.

2012 SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

•    Dispute and arbitration with the State of PNG and 
impact on build program

•   Vessel program on hold

•   Solwara 1advanced 

•   Opportunities outside of PNG progressed 

•   Board strengthened following private placement

Dispute process and Arbitration with the State of  
PNG and impact on build program 
On June 1, 2012 Nautilus announced that it was in dispute 
with the State of PNG as to the parties’ obligations to 
complete the State Equity Option Agreement entered 
into on 29 March, 2011 and that it had initiated the dispute 
resolution process provided for in such agreement.  
Subsequently Nautilus announced that the State had 
issued Nautilus with a Notice of Arbitration in relation to 
the dispute.  

Nautilus considers that the State has a contractual 
obligation to pay an amount of approximately US$23.5 
million in respect of costs incurred in the development 
of the Solwara 1 Project up to January 2011, and to make 
pro-rata capital contributions in respect of subsequent 
Project development costs which, at the end of December 
2012 totalled approximately US$61.2 million (excluding 
interest).  The State disputes that it is required to meet 
such obligations.  In order to continue the construction of 
the Seafloor Production System, Nautilus has been forced 
to carry the State’s share of Project development costs  
to date.

By November 2012, an agreed commercial resolution with 
the State had not been achieved and Nautilus concluded 
that the avenues for achieving such a resolution within the 
timeframe that Nautilus could reasonably continue to carry 
the total development costs for the Solwara 1 Project had 
been exhausted.  On November 13, in order to preserve 
capital, Management and the Board of Directors of 
Nautilus decided to terminate/suspend the construction of 
its Seafloor Production System and the Company therefore 
terminated a number of contracts relevant thereto. All of 
the relevant supplier agreements contain provisions for 
termination without penalty. The Company was also forced 
to reduce staff numbers with approximately 60 positions 
made redundant.  As at the end of December all contracts 
except the three key contracts for the Seafloor Production 
Tools, the Subsea Slurry Lift Pump and the Riser have been 
terminated.  The Company remains in discussions with 
its three key contractors on how best to manage these 
contracts during this interim period.

It has been Nautilus’ preference to resolve the dispute 
with the State by agreement and with that aim Nautilus 
has taken steps to meet with senior representatives of 
the State, including discussions with National Executive 
Council Ministers.

Nautilus continues to engage with the State in an effort to 
resolve matters amicably.

Vessel program on hold 
On June 1, 2012 Nautilus announced that there may be a 
delay in the finalisation of funding for the vessel to be used 
in connection with its Solwara 1 Project and a potential 
consequential delay to the program for the vessel build. 
In turn, this may result in a delay to the commencement of 
operations at Solwara 1.

Nautilus and Harren had been negotiating the terms of 
third party financing related to the PSV. Harren advised 
Nautilus that it would no longer be able to contribute the 
full amount of the equity to the Vessel JV contemplated 
by the Agreement signed by the parties in April 2011. 
Nautilus indicated at that time that the change to Harren’s 
position may delay the finalisation of the terms of the third 
party funding and result in a consequential delay to the 
program for the vessel build.

In 2011, the Company advanced $12.9 million to the 
shipyard proposed by Harren under the Vessel JV to enter 
into contracts for long lead items. This shipyard made 
an application for insolvency on August 29, 2012 and is 
currently in an administration process.
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The Company has registered a claim with the administrator 
that has been accepted in full, however early indications 
from the process indicate that unsecured creditors will 
likely receive a quota or between 1-3% of their claim.  
While the quota percentages have not been finalised the 
Company has recognised an impairment charge of the full 
carrying amount of $12.9 million given the relatively low 
quota percentage.

The Company took the opportunity to review the 
proposed vessel design to enhance and define a vessel 
more suited to operations in locations and environments 
outside of PNG.  The basic design of the revised vessel has 
been completed and submitted to ABS for Class approval. 
The vessel is a Multi Purpose Vessel with a length of 227m, 
beam of 40m a deadweight capacity of 67,000 tonnes and 
a transit speed of 12 knots. Power generation remains at 
30MW and accommodation for 180 people is included. 
Model testing and dynamic analysis simulations have been 
completed which confirm the enhanced station keeping 
and performance characteristics.

Discussions took place with a number of shipyards for 
the procurement and build of the enhanced vessel and 
the integration of the Subsea Production Equipment.  
However, discussions regarding the build and associated 
funding solution are currently on hold following the 
termination/suspension of the equipment build for the 
Seafloor Production System. 

Solwara 1 advanced 
Despite some of the setbacks in 2012, the Company has 
continued to advance Solwara 1.

Offtake agreement for Solwara 1 
In April 2012 Nautilus signed a binding heads of 
agreement with Tongling for the sale of product intended 
to be extracted from Solwara 1.

The agreement provides for the purchase by Tongling of 
1.1 million tonnes per annum (subject to +/- 20% variation) 
of Solwara 1 material for a period of three years on a 
take or pay basis, commencing upon the first delivery 
of product from Solwara 1, with an option to agree an 
extension of the arrangement.  

The agreement contemplates that material will be 
imported into China by Tongling and then processed 
through its facilities in the city of Tongling alongside the 
Yangtze River.  The purchase price to be paid by Tongling 
will be based on the quality of the copper concentrate 
produced. 

The agreement includes a mechanism for an early 
payment of 90% of the price upon loading of the export 
vessel in PNG.  Final payment is based on the recovery 
of copper, gold and silver reporting to the copper 
concentrate with deductions for capped logistics and 
processing costs, smelter treatment and refining charges 
(TC/RCs), allowances for plant fixed capital recoveries and 
Tongling’s tolling fee  on concentrator plant processing 
costs.  TC/RCs are based on Asian International 
benchmarks with a premium payable for the achievement 
of target metal recoveries.  

The price payable for all metals will be set by the London 
Metal Exchange for copper and London Bullion Market 
Association for silver and gold with the initial payment for 
all metals based on the average of the month preceding 
the shipment and final payment on a four month 
quotational period.

Value may also be realised through a 50%/50% profit 
sharing scheme based on incremental by-product revenue 
realised in China, including gold bearing pyrite.  Material 
from the process can be roasted in China to produce 
gold and sulphuric acid and the remaining calcine may 
be sold to cement manufacturers or as iron ore fines.  
With minimal waste Tongling’s process brings significant 
benefits consistent with Nautilus’ commitment to minimise 
environmental impacts.  

The Company will issue a bank guarantee to Tongling 
in three stages over nine months, which will not exceed 
approximately US$11.5 million, as a security for 50% of 
Tongling’s concentrator investment costs commencing at 
the first order of major equipment.

Project build progressed 
Progress continued throughout 2012 on works related to 
the Solwara 1 Project, however progress was impacted 
by the decision on November 13, 2012 to terminate the 
construction of the equipment for the Seafloor Production 
System to preserve the Company’s cash position. 

Progress on the development of the SPTs advanced 
throughout the year.  Fabrication progressed with some 
key sub-assemblies and associated components already 
delivered.  A significant amount of externally sourced 
components have been delivered to SMD including 
switchboards, transformers, variable frequency drives, 
submersible electric motors, dredge pumps and suction 
cutter head.

The LARS lift winches and A-frames are complete and 
in storage, along with the SPT umbilicals and lift wires 
completed earlier in the year.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(US dollars, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards)
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Technip USA Inc. progressed development of the RALS 
until November 13, 2012.  The subsea connectors are 
complete and in storage ready for incorporation in the 
pull-in skids.  The surface pump systems were essentially 
complete when the contract was terminated.

The 8” and 12” riser pipes have been delivered to the 
fabrication yard in Louisiana and the connector forgings 
are largely complete and ready for machining.  Buoyancy 
manufacture in the UK is complete and the buoyancy and 
clamps are in storage.

Bismarck exploration program completed 
During Q1 and Q2 of 2012 Nautilus undertook a program 
of multibeam echo sounding (“MBES”), sub bottom 
profiling and seismic surveys over the Company’s extensive 
Bismarck Sea tenement package.  The program was 
undertaken using the vessel MV Duke, and was designed 
to map and test prospective sites within the Company’s 
large tenement package.

The processing of the MBES, profiling and survey data was 
ongoing throughout quarter two.  These results, including 
that for the Solwara 1 3D Seismic Survey, are anticipated 
in 2013. 

Opportunities outside of PNG progressed 
The Company continues to progress its vast ground 
positions in jurisdictions outside of PNG.

NI 43-101 Resource report for polymetallic 
nodules released 
Tonga Offshore Mining Limited, 100% owned subsidiary 
of Nautilus Minerals Inc., completed a maiden mineral 
resource estimate for its Clarion-Clipperton Fracture Zone 
polymetallic nodule project, located within the Central 
Pacific Ocean. 

An independent Technical Report was prepared by Golder 
Associates Pty Ltd in accordance with National Instrument 
43-101 which included inferred mineral resources of 
around 410 million wet tonnes at 1.2% Ni, 1.1% Cu,  
0.24% Co and 26.9% Mn at an average surface abundance 
of 9.4 wet kg/m2.

Discovery of 2 high grade systems in Tonga 
During September, Nautilus staff participated in an 18 
day marine scientific research cruise where samples were 
collected as part of a broader research effort in the NE 
Lau Basin, which included wholly owned exploration 
tenements in the territorial waters of the Kingdom  
of Tonga.

Grab samples obtained from these discoveries assayed  
up to 11.9% copper, 59.8% zing, 28.6 g/t gold and  
673g/t silver.

These discoveries will be added to the 17 SMS systems,  
as previously reported on our Tongan prospecting 
licenses, which are being considered for further evaluation.

Board strengthened following private placement 
37.7 million shares issued in private placement 
Nautilus raised approximately C$34 million through a 
private placement of Common Shares to assist with the 
continued funding of its Seafloor Production System. 

The placement involved the issue of approximately 37.7 
million shares to a number of investors at a price of C$0.90 
(US$0.91) per share.

Existing Nautilus strategic shareholders, MB Holding, 
Metalloinvest and Anglo American participated in the 
private placement. MB Holding, through its subsidiary 
Mawarid Offshore Mining Ltd., subscribed for 20.0 
million shares, increasing its stake to 16.9%, Metalloinvest 
subscribed for approximately 8.3 million shares to maintain 
its interest in Nautilus at 21% and Anglo American 
subscribed for approximately 4.4 million shares on the 
basis that its stake be maintained at 11.1%. Other large 
investors subscribed for the remaining 5 million 
shares issued. 

Mohammed Al Barwani appointed director 
As part of the private placement, MB Holding was granted 
the right to nominate a director of the Company for as 
long as it owns 15% or more of the Company’s outstanding 
shares. Their nominee, Dr. Mohammed Al Barwani was 
appointed as a director following closing of the private 
placement on September 11, 2012. Dr. Al Barwani’s 
background and experience are described under the 
heading “Directors and Officers”.  

Other corporate activities 
Quoted on OTCQX 
In April 2012, the Company began trading on OTCQX 
International. The quotation will provide greater visibility 
and superior access to U.S. capital markets, and allow 
closer engagement with our U.S. investors who will be 
able to take advantage of the timely financial and trading 
information provided there. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(US dollars, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards)
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Change of CEO 
On October 31, 2012 the Company announced that Mr 
Mike Johnston, Nautilus’ Vice President for Strategic 
Development and Exploration had accepted the position 
of interim President and CEO. After more than four years 
as President and CEO, Mr Rogers decided to return 
interstate to be with his family; but remains a non-
executive director of Nautilus.

With Mr Johnston’s appointment on an interim basis, the 
Nautilus Board intends to undertake a formal recruitment 
process in order to appoint a permanent President and 
CEO for Nautilus going forward. Mr Johnston will be 
considered for this permanent position together with  
other candidates.

With more than 25 years of experience in the mining 
industry, 11 of which were with Placer Dome, and a further 
6 years with Nautilus, Mr Johnston, brings to Nautilus a 
strong knowledge of the mining industry, people, decision 
makers, and laws throughout PNG and the Asia-Pacific 
region. He also has extensive ore reserve and project 
evaluation experience, a track record of finding ore 
bodies, and a strong understanding of all aspects of deep 
sea mining, through his management of Placer Dome’s 
involvement in the Solwara 1 Project.

RISK FACTORS 
 
Nautilus’ ability to generate revenues and achieve a return 
on shareholders’ investment must be considered in light 
of the early stage nature of the Solwara 1 deposit and 
seafloor resource production in general.  The Company 
is subject to many of the risks common to early stage 
enterprises, including personnel limitations, financial 
risks, metals prices, permitting, the need to raise capital, 
resource shortages and lack of revenues.  Substantial 
expenditures are required to discover and establish 
sufficient resources and to develop the mining and 
processing facilities and infrastructure at any site chosen 
for mining. There can be no assurance that the Company 
will be able to raise sufficient financing to facilitate this 
development. The Company’s existing funds may not be 
sufficient to bring the Solwara 1 Project into production 
and there can be no assurance that additional sources of 
finance will be available to the Company. Other factors 
that influence the Company’s ability to succeed are more 
fully described in the Company’s 2012 Annual Information 
Form available on www.sedar.com under the heading  
“Risk Factors”. 

SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION

The following table sets out selected annual financial 
information of Nautilus and is derived from the Company’s 
audited consolidated financial statements for the 
years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010.  The 
information set out below should be read in conjunction 
with the MD&A and consolidated financial statements and 
related notes prepared as of March 15, 2013 for the year 
ended December 31, 2012.  Amounts are expressed in  
US dollars unless otherwise indicated.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(US dollars, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards)

2012 2011 2010

Sales $Nil $Nil $Nil

Loss for the year $40,982,142 $34,045,323 $43,028,770

Loss per share (basic and diluted) $0.19 $0.20 $0.28

Total assets $271,747,112 $282,553,450 $207,090,779

Total long-term liabilities $7,544,171 $5,155,666 $435,241

Dividends declared $Nil $Nil $Nil
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Loss for the year 
There was an increase in the overall level of expenditure in 
2012, although remaining below initial budget expectation 
as the Company looked to preserve cash towards the 
end of 2012 while working to resolve the dispute with the 
PNG government.  While operating cash expenditure 
decreased from 2011 the loss for 2012 increased due to a 
non-cash impairment charge of $12.9 million.  Expenditure 
on the project increased from 2011 with progress towards 
milestones related to the seafloor production system. 

Total assets 
Total assets for the year ended December 31, 2012 
decreased to $271.7 million (2011 - $282.6 million)  
due primarily to the $12.9 million impairment of  
prepaid amounts. 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS – FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
DECEMBER 31, 2012

The following discussion provides an analysis of the 
financial results of Nautilus: 

Loss for the year 
For the full year ended December 31, 2012, the Company 
recorded a loss of $40.9 million ($0.19 loss per share) 
compared to a loss of $34.0 million ($0.20 loss per share) 
for 2011.  The current year result was impacted by an 
impairment charge of $12.9 million for amounts prepaid 
for the vessel build and $1.6 million of redundancy  
costs incurred.

Exploration expense 
Exploration expense decreased to $6.8 million  
(2011 - $14.2 million) with exploration costs associated 
with Solwara 1 being capitalized as Mineral Properties 
from January 13, 2011, and delays in the 2012 exploration 
program as the company looked to preserve cash and 
focus on delivering the Solwara 1 project pending the 
outcome of the dispute with the PNG government.    

General & Administration expense 
General & Administration expense increased to $18.0 
million (2011 - $17.2 million) with increased salaries and 
wages associated with an increase in headcount prior to 
the redundancies in November 2012 for the comparative 
period, and an increase in office related expenditure 
including rent to support the increased headcount, and 
increase in insurance costs.  There was also $0.5 million for 
redundancy costs in the last quarter of 2012.

Environment expense 
Environment expense increased to $0.9 million  
(2011 - $0.4 million) with current year salaries and wages 
expensed, while prior year costs were capitalised to the 
Solwara 1 project and redundancy costs of $0.1 million.

Technology expense 
Technology expense increased to $2.7 million  
(2011 - $1.5 million) due to an increase in drill rig 
development and drilling downhole tool studies 
undertaken during the current year and also includes  
$0.4 million for redundancy costs.

Development expense 
Development expenses increased to $1.1 million (2011 - 
$0.4 million) due to increase in salary and wages expense, 
redundancy costs of $0.3 million and maintenance 
expense related to upkeep of Lassul Bay site in PNG.  

Foreign exchange loss 
A foreign exchange gain of $0.6 million was recorded for 
the year (2011 – foreign exchange loss of $1.4 million).  
The foreign exchange gain consists of realized gains 
and losses on actual cash transactions during the period 
and unrealized gains and losses of cash denominated 
in different currencies at the period end.  The Company 
holds a “basket of currencies” to act as a natural hedge 
against its expected cash outflows and can therefore 
experience unrealized fluctuations at period end when 
cash balances are converted to US dollars for  
reporting purposes.  

Interest income 
Interest income earned on cash and cash equivalents 
held during the year was $0.9 million (2011 - $0.8 million).  
The increase was attributable to the increase in average 
levels of cash held during the period as well as a marginal 
increase in average interest rate achieved on funds 
invested.  The Company maintains its cash and cash 
equivalents with banks with an S&P rating of A+ or better. 

Operating losses 
Overall, Nautilus’ operating loss decreased to $29.0 million 
for the year ended December 31, 2012 down from $35.1 
million for the year ended December 31, 2011.  The delay 
of significant exploration campaigns, which individually 
can cost in excess of $5 million, in line with the strategy of 
conserving cash and focus on delivering Solwara 1 was the 
primary driver for the reduction in the operating loss for 
the year.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(US dollars, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards)
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Cash flows 
Operating activities 
Cash used in operating activities was $29.8 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2012 compared to $37.9 million 
for the year ended December 31, 2011, with the current 
year being reflective of the operating result while the 
prior year was impacted by payments for exploration work 
completed in 2010.

Investing activities 
Cash used in investing activities for the year ended 
December 31, 2012 was $97.2 million as compared to $74.7 
million for the year ended December 31, 2011. Milestone 
payments for the construction of subsea production 
equipment were $94.9 million (2011 - $35.9 million) and 
capitalized exploration costs were $2.3 million (2011 - $26.1 
million). The comparative period included the receipt 
of joint venture contribution of $1.8 million and prepaid 
expenditure relating to the vessel build of $12.3 million.

Financing activities 
Cash from financing activities for the year ended 
December 31, 2012 was $34.5 million from the exercise 
of stock options and issuance of shares through private 
placement, compared to $98.4 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2011, when the company raised $96.4 
million through a private placement and $2.0 million from 
the exercise of stock options.

Cash raised from financing activities have been applied 
to the build of the seafloor production equipment, 
exploration activities, general corporate expenditure and 
cash and cash equivalents on hand for the year ended 
December 31, 2012.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

The Company’s financial objective is to ensure that it 
has sufficient liquidity in the form of cash and/or debt 
capacity to finance its ongoing requirements to support 
the Company’s strategy of becoming the first company to 
commercially extract copper, gold, silver and zinc from  
the seafloor. 

Key financial measures 
The Company uses the following key financial measures to 
assess its financial condition and liquidity:

December 31 
2012

December 31 
2011

Working capital $46.8 million $130.9 million

Cash and cash 
equivalents

$57.8 million $149.4 million

 
Under the Company’s Investment Policy, cash cannot 
be invested for more than 90 days and must be held  
on deposit with banks with an S&P credit rating of  
A+ or better.

Outlook and capital requirements  
The Company’s known contractual obligations at 
December 31, 2012, are quantified in the table below:

December 31  
2012 

$

Non-cancellable operating leases

Not later than 1 year 1,021,467

Later than 1 year and not later  
than 2 years

1,018,891

Later than 2 years and not later  
than 3 years

527,716

Later than 3 years and not later  
than 4 years

36,541

Later than 4 years and not later  
than 5 years

21,459

Total commitments 2,626,074

 
The Company is involved in mineral exploration which is a 
high risk activity and relies on results from each exploration 
program to determine if areas justify any further 
exploration and the extent and method of appropriate 
exploration to be conducted.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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Due to the decision to terminate certain equipment 
construction contracts, the Company may be required 
to make material payments to suppliers to settle their 
obligations in respect of these contracts in relation to costs 
incurred to date. As at December 31, 2012, the Company’s 
working capital totalled in excess of $46 million. Payments 
for work completed up to the date of contract termination 
have not yet been agreed with suppliers. These amounts 
could be material.

The Company has no source of revenue and has significant 
cash requirements to be able to meet its administrative 
overhead and maintain its property interests. In order to 
be able to resume the construction contracts and advance 
the development of its mineral property interests, the 
Company will be required to raise additional financing. 
Until that time, certain discretionary expenditures may be 
deferred and measures to reduce operating costs will be 
taken in order to preserve working capital.

Following the termination of contracts and reduction 
in staff numbers Nautilus expects that cash and cash 
equivalents will be sufficient to pay for capital expenditure 
commitments and general and administrative costs for 
the next 12 months. Depending upon future events, the 
rate of expenditures and other general and administrative 
costs could increase or decrease. The Company continues 
to evaluate a range of alternative options available to it to 
access capital to fund future expenditures. 

Nautilus’ opinion concerning liquidity and its ability to 
avail itself in the future of the financing options mentioned 
above are based on currently available information. To 
the extent that this information proves to be inaccurate, 
future availability of financing may be adversely affected. 
Factors that could affect the availability of financing 
include Nautilus’ performance (as measured by various 
factors including the progress and results of its exploration 
work), the timely resolution of the dispute with the State of 
PNG, the state of international debt and equity markets, 
investor perceptions and expectations of past and future 
performance, the global financial climate, metal and 
commodity prices, political events in the south Pacific, 
obtaining operating approvals from the PNG government 
for the Solwara 1 Project, drilling and metallurgical testing 
results, results from environmental studies, engineering 
studies and detailed design of equipment.

Foreign currency exchange rate risk 
The Company’s operations are located in several different 
countries, including Canada, Australia, PNG, Tonga, 
Solomon Islands, Fiji and New Zealand and require 
equipment to be purchased from several different 
countries. Nautilus has entered into key contracts in 
United States dollars, British pounds sterling and euros. 
Future profitability could be affected by fluctuations in 
foreign currencies. The Company has not entered into any 
foreign currency contracts or other derivatives to establish 
a foreign currency protection program but may consider 
such actions in the future.

Foreign exchange risk is mitigated by the Company 
maintaining its cash in a “basket” of currencies that reflect 
its current and expected cash outflows. As at December 31, 
2012 the Company held its cash in the following currencies:

Currency denomination % of total cash in US$ 
terms held

USD 38

GBP 14

AUD 14

EUR 1

CAD 33

100

Interest rate risk 
The Company holds cash and cash equivalents which 
earn interest at variable rates as determined by financial 
institutions.  As at December 31, 2012, with other variables 
unchanged, a 0.1% increase (decrease) in the interest rate 
would have changed our net loss by approximately $0.1 
million for the year. There would be no significant effect on 
other comprehensive income.

Credit risk 
The Company places its cash only with banks with an S&P 
credit rating of A+ or better. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting 
date is the carrying value of cash and cash equivalents and 
other receivables.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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Liquidity risk 
The Company manages liquidity by maintaining adequate 
cash and short-term investment balances. In addition, the 
Company regularly monitors and reviews both actual and 
forecasted cash flows.

As a result of the decision to terminate certain equipment 
construction contracts, the Company may be required 
to make material payments to suppliers to settle their 
obligations in respect of these contracts in relation to costs 
incurred to date. As at December 31, 2012, the Company’s 
working capital totalled in excess of $46 million. Payments 
relating to work completed up to the date of contract 
termination have not yet been agreed with suppliers. 
These amounts could be material.

The Company has no source of revenue and has significant 
cash requirements to be able to meet its administrative 
overhead and maintain its property interests. In order to 
be able to resume the construction contracts and advance 
the development of its mineral property interests, the 
Company will be required to raise additional financing. 
Until that time, certain discretionary expenditures may be 
deferred and measures to reduce operating costs will be 
taken in order to preserve working capital.

Given the measures being taken by the Company to 
terminate contracts and reduce employee numbers, 
the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk is currently 
considered to be low.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity 
of IFRS requires the use of judgements and estimates 
that affect the amount reported and disclosed in the 
consolidated financial statements and related notes. These 
judgements and estimates are based on management’s 
best knowledge of the relevant facts and circumstances, 
having regard to previous experience, but actual results 
may differ materially from the amounts included in the 
financial statements. Information about such judgements 
and estimation is contained in the accounting policies and 
notes to the financial statements, and the key areas are 
summarized below.

The area of judgment that has the most significant effect 
on the amounts recognized in these consolidated financial 
statements is the: 

•   review of asset carrying values and impairment 
assessment

Key sources of estimation uncertainty that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognized in these 
consolidated financial statements are:

•   Review of asset carrying values and impairment 
assessment; and 

•   Determination of the fair values of share-based 
compensation.

Each of these judgements and estimates is considered in 
more detail below.

Review of asset carrying values and 
impairment assessment 
Property, plant and equipment and mineral properties 
are considered for impairment when events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may 
not be recoverable. If an indicator is identified, the 
asset’s recoverable amount is calculated and compared 
to the carrying amount. For the purpose of measuring 
recoverable amounts, assets are grouped at the lowest 
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash 
flows (cash-generating units or “CGUs”). The recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs 
to sell and value in use (being the present value of the 
expected future cash flows of the relevant asset or CGU). 
An impairment loss is recognized for the amount 
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its  
recoverable amount.

The determination of fair value less costs to sell and 
value in use requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions about expected production, sales 
volumes, commodity prices, mineral resources, operating 
costs and future capital expenditures. The estimates and 
assumptions are subject to risk and uncertainty; hence, 
there is the possibility that changes in circumstances will 
alter these assumptions, which may impact the recoverable 
amount of the assets.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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In Q2 of 2012, Harren advised the Company that they 
would not be contributing the amount of capital to the 
Vessel JV to the extent originally intended. As a result, 
the Company has taken the opportunity to consider 
alternative vessel options. Subsequently, the shipyard that 
received $12.9 million in prepayments from the Company 
to enter into contracts for long lead items has entered 
administration. As a result of this, the Company has 
written off the prepayments for the vessel, with a resultant 
impairment charge of $12.9 million recorded in the  
current year.

In considering whether any impairment indicators occurred 
in respect of the Company’s other long lived assets as at 
December 31, 2012, management took into account a 
number of factors such as metal prices, projected costs to 
operate equipment, availability and costs of finance, cost 
and state of completion of subsea equipment construction, 
exploration successes in other areas, the existence and 
terms of binding off-take agreements and the Company’s 
market capitalization compared to its net asset value. 
Management has concluded, based on this analysis that 
no impairment indicators existed at December 31, 2012 
in respect of the Solwara 1 project costs and the subsea 
equipment currently under construction.

Determination of the fair value of share-based 
compensation 
The fair value of share options and other forms of share-
based compensation granted is computed to determine 
the relevant charge to the statement of Loss. In order 
to compute this fair value the Company uses option 
pricing models that require management to make various 
estimates and assumption in relation to the expected life 
of awards, volatility, risk-free interest rates, and 
forfeiture rates. 

OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA

The following is a summary of the Company’s outstanding 
share data as of March 14, 2013.

Common shares 
A total of 236,872,865 common shares are outstanding 
including 2,975,000 restricted shares.

Restricted shares 
A total of 3,050,000 restricted shares are issued and 
outstanding under the Company’s share loan plan, with 
loan expiry dates ranging from September, 2013 through 
to April, 2016. The weighted average issue price for the 
restricted shares is C$1.13. 

Stock options 
A total of 4,200,000 stock options are issued and 
outstanding, with expiry dates ranging from April, 2013 
through to April, 2016. The weighted average exercise 
price for all stock options is C$1.77. All stock options 
entitle the holders to purchase common shares of 
the Company.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

Internal control over financial reporting 
The Company’s management, with the participation of 
its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has 
evaluated the effectiveness of Nautilus’ disclosure controls 
and procedures. Based on the results of that evaluation, 
the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer have concluded that, as at December 31, 2012, 
the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were 
effective in providing reasonable assurance that the 
information required to be disclosed by the Company in 
reports it files are recorded, processed, summarized and 
reported within the appropriate time periods and forms.

The Company’s management is responsible for 
establishing and maintaining an adequate system of 
internal controls, including internal controls over financial 
reporting. Nautilus’ internal controls include policies and 
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records 
that accurately and fairly reflect, in reasonable detail, 
the transactions related to acquisition, maintenance and 
disposition of assets; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of financial statements in accordance with 
IFRS, and receipts are recorded and expenditures 
are incurred only in accordance with authorization of 
management and directors; and (3) provide reasonable 
(but not absolute) assurance of compliance with 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
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regulatory matters and to safeguard reliability of the 
financial reporting and its disclosures. Having assessed 
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls over 
financial reporting, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer believe that: (1) the internal controls over 
financial reporting are effective and provide reasonable 
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to 
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance 
with IFRS; and (2) that no material failings in the reporting 
were discovered in the period ended December 31, 2012.

There have been no material changes in the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting since the year 
ended December 31, 2011 that have materially affected, 
or are reasonably likely to materially affect, internal control 
over financial reporting.

The Company’s management, including the Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, believe 
that any disclosure controls and procedures or internal 
controls and procedures, no matter how well conceived 
and operated, can provide only reasonable, but not 
absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control 
system are met. Further, the design of a control system 
must reflect the fact that there are constraints, and the 
benefits of controls must be considered relative to their 
costs. Because of the inherent limitation in all control 
systems, they cannot provide absolute assurance that 
all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within 
the Company have been prevented or detected. These 
inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in 
decision making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can 
occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, 
controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of 
some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or 
by unauthorized override of the control. The design of 
any system of control also is based in part upon certain 
assumptions about the likelihood of future events, 
and there can be no assurance that any design will 
succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential 
future conditions. Accordingly, because of the inherent 
limitations in a cost effective control system, misstatement 
due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

ADDITIONAL SOURCES OF INFORMATION

Additional information regarding Nautilus Minerals Inc. 
is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and on the 
Company’s website www.nautilusminerals.com.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
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The preparation and presentation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements, Management Discussion 
and Analysis (“MD&A”) and all financial information in the Annual Report are the responsibility of management and 
have been approved by the Board of Directors.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”). Financial statements, by nature, are not precise since they include certain amounts based upon 
estimates and judgements. When alternative methods exist, management has chosen those it deems to be the most 
appropriate in the circumstances. 

Management, under the supervision of and the participation of the President and Chief Financial Officer, have a 
process in place to evaluate disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting as required 
by Canadian securities regulations. We, as President and Chief Financial Officer, will certify our annual filings with the 
CSA as required in Canada by National Instrument 52-109.

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting and 
is ultimately responsible for reviewing and approving the consolidated financial statements. The Board carries out this 
responsibility principally through its Audit Committee which is independent from management.

The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board of Directors and reviews the consolidated financial statements 
and MD&A; considers the report of the external auditors; examines the fees and expense for audit services; and 
recommends to the Board the independent auditors for appointment by the shareholders. The independent auditors 
have full and free access to the Audit Committee and meet with the Audit Committee to discuss their audit work, the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting and financial reporting matters. The Audit Committee reports its 
findings to the Board for consideration when approving the consolidated financial statements for issuance to  
the shareholders.

Management’s Responsibilty 
for Financial Reporting

Michael Johnston Shontel Norgate

President and Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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March 15, 2013

INdepeNdeNt audItor’S report

to the Shareholders of Nautilus Minerals Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Nautilus Minerals Inc., which comprise the 
consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the consolidated 
statements of loss and comprehensive loss, changes in equity and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2012 
and December 31, 2011, and the related notes, which comprise a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that 
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform our audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of 
the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

opinion 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Nautilus Minerals Inc. as at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 and its financial performance and its cash flow for 
the years ended December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 in accordance with International Financial  
Reporting Standards.

pricewaterhousecoopers LLp 
Chartered Accountants

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  
PricewaterhouseCoopers Place, 250 Howe Street, Suite 700, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6C 3S7 
T: +1 604 806 7000, F: +1 604 806 7806 
“PwC” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Consolidated Statements 
of Financial Position
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 (expressed in US Dollars)

December 31, 2012 
$

 December 31, 2011 
$

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 5) 57,806,465 149,447,794
Prepaid expenses and advances (Note 6) 675,991 764,060

58,482,456 150,211,854

Non-current assets
Restricted cash (Note 8) 2,319,663 2,270,955
Prepaid expenses and advances (Note 2 and 6) - 12,933,620
Property, plant and equipment (Note 10) 170,166,331 86,230,435
Mineral properties (Note 9) 40,778,662 30,906,586

213,264,656 132,341,596

TOTAL ASSETS 271,747,112 282,553,450

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 11,677,480 19,315,000

Non-current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 5,747,090 3,358,584
Joint venture contribution (Note 2) 1,797,081 1,797,081

7,544,171 5,155,665

TOTAL LIABILITIES 19,221,651 24,470,665

Equity
Share capital 477,413,919 442,832,443
Contributed surplus 46,537,794 45,694,452
Deficit (271,426,252) (230,444,110)

Total Equity 252,525,461 258,082,785

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 271,747,112 282,553,450

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Approved by the Board of Directors

Russell Debney      Cynthia Thomas
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Consolidated Statements of Loss and 
Comprehensive Loss 
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 (expressed in US Dollars)

December 31, 2012 
$

 December 31, 2011 
$

OPERATING EXPENSES 

Exploration costs (Note 13) 6,821,848 14,212,789

General and Administration (Note 14) 18,021,262 17,213,495

Environment 927,887 393,099

Technology 2,734,041 1,486,792

Development 1,096,862 381,527

Foreign exchange (608,530) 1,386,338

Operating loss 28,993,370 35,074,040

Impairment of vessel prepayment 12,933,620 -

Interest Income (918,858) (827,080)

Rent and other income (25,990) (201,637)

Loss and comprehensive loss for the year 40,982,142 34,045,323

Weighted average number of shares outstanding,  
basic and diluted

210,312,649 167,334,354

Loss per share

Basic and diluted 0.19 0.20

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 (expressed in US Dollars)

December 31, 2012 
$

 December 31, 2011 
$

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Loss for the year (40,982,142) (34,045,323)

     Reconciling adjustments:

     Depreciation and amortization 899,552 511,538

     Impairment of vessel prepayment 12,933,620 -

     Unrealized foreign exchange losses/(gains) (941,939) 1,469,593

     Share-based payments 973,946 1,131,956

Changes in non-cash working capital

     Prepaid expenses and advances 88,069 (207,560)

     Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (2,774,010) (6,767,075)

Net cash used in operating activities (29,802,904) (37,906,871)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Restricted cash (48,708) (1,525,162)

Joint venture contribution - 1,797,081

Prepaid expenses and advances - (12,933,620)

Purchase of plant and equipment (86,496,110) (44,339,068)

Mineral property costs (10,686,418) (17,710,624)

Net cash used in investing activities (97,231,236) (74,711,393)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Issuance of shares for cash - net of issue costs 34,450,872 98,402,716

Net cash generated from financing activities 34,450,872 98,402,716

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 941,939 (1,469,593)

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (91,641,329) (15,685,141)

Cash and cash equivalents - Beginning of year   149,447,794 165,132,935

Cash and cash equivalents - End of year (Note 5) 57,806,465 149,447,794

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
(expressed in US Dollars)

Share capital contributed 
Surplus

deficit total Non-
controlling 

interest

total  
equity 

Number of 
shares

amount  

$ $ $ $ $$

Balance January 1, 
2011

155,578,884 343,635,585 45,356,638 (196,523,642) 192,468,581 124,855 192,593,436

Exercise of share options 1,475,000 1,954,920 - - 1,954,920 - 1,954,920

Issue of shares in share 
loan plan

200,000 - - - - - -

Issue of shares in private 
placement

38,927,857 96,447,796 - - 96,447,796 - 96,447,796

Share-based payments - - 1,131,956 - 1,131,956 - 1,131,956

Transfer of value on 
exercise of share options

- 794,142 (794,142) - - - -

Acquisition of  NCI* - - - 124,855 124,855 (124,855) -

Loss for the year - - - (34,045,323) (34,045,323) - (34,045,323)

Balance December 31,  
2011

196,181,741 442,832,443 45,694,452 (230,444,110) 258,082,785 - 258,082,785

Exercise of share options   243,000 302,844 - - 302,844 - 302,844

Issue of shares in share 
loan plan

2,850,000 - - - - - -

Issue of shares in private 
placement

37,673,124 34,148,028 - - 34,148,028 - 34,148,028

Share-based payments - - 973,946 - 973,946 - 973,946

Transfer of value on 
exercise of share options

- 130,604 (130,604) - - - -

Loss for the year - - - (40,982,142) (40,982,142) - (40,982,142)

Balance December 31, 
2012

236,947,865 477,413,919 46,537,794 (271,426,252) 252,525,461 - 252,525,461

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

* non controlling interest.
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1 Corporate InformatIon

Nature of operations 
Nautilus Minerals Inc. (the “Company”, “Nautilus” or 
“NMI”) is a company whose common shares are listed 
on the Toronto Stock Exchange and quoted on OTCQX 
International.

Nautilus is engaged in the exploration and development 
of the ocean floor for copper and gold rich seafloor 
massive sulphide deposits. To date the Company has not 
earned any revenues from operations and is considered 
to be in the exploration stage. The Company has one 
segment being mineral property exploration in Australasia. 
The exploration activity involves the search for deepwater 
copper and gold rich seafloor massive sulphides in the 
western Pacific Ocean. The Company’s main focus for 2012 
was the Solwara 1 Project in Papua New Guinea (PNG) 
in the western Pacific Ocean. The proposed principal 
operations of the Company subject to permitting will be 
the extraction of copper, zinc, gold and silver deposits 
where there are economically viable discoveries. The 
Company’s consolidated financial statements and those 
of its controlled subsidiaries (“consolidated financial 
statements”) are presented in US Dollars. 

Nautilus is a company incorporated in British Columbia, 
Canada. The registered office, head office and principal 
offices of the Company are located at:

Registered Office (Vancouver, Canada) 
Nautilus Minerals Inc. 
Floor 10 
595 Howe St 
Vancouver, BC, V6C 2T5 
Canada 

Head Office (Vancouver, Canada) 
Nautilus Minerals Inc. 
Suite 1400 
400 Burrard Street 
Vancouver, BC, V6C 3A6 
Canada

Corporate Office (Toronto, Canada) 
Nautilus Minerals Inc. 
Suite 1702, 141 Adelaide Street West 
Toronto, Ontario M5H 3L5 
Canada 

Operations (Brisbane, Australia) 
Nautilus Minerals Inc. 
Level 7, 303 Coronation Drive 
Milton Queensland, Australia 4064

2  StatuS of joInt venture agreementS, 
ConStruCtIon ContraCtS and 
lIquIdIty rISk

Solwara 1 project 
On March 29, 2011, the Company announced that 
the State of PNG had signed the State Equity Option 
Agreement (the “Agreement”) and exercised its option to 
acquire a 30% stake in Nautilus’ Solwara 1 Project in the 
Bismarck Sea.

The Agreement contemplates the formation of an 
unincorporated joint venture to hold the mining assets of 
the Solwara 1 Project, with Nautilus to retain a 70% holding 
and the State of PNG to acquire a 30% share (the “Mining 
JV”). The State’s interest in the Mining JV will be held 
through Petromin PNG Holdings Limited (“Petromin”), 
a wholly owned company of the State, which holds the 
State’s mining and petroleum assets.

On June 1, 2012 Nautilus announced that it was in dispute 
with the State of PNG as to the parties’ obligations to 
complete the State Equity Option Agreement entered 
into on 29 March, 2011 and that it had initiated the dispute 
resolution process provided for in such agreement. 
Subsequently Nautilus announced that the State had 
issued Nautilus with a Notice of Arbitration in relation to 
the dispute. Nautilus continues to engage with the State in 
an effort to resolve matters amicably. 

Nautilus considers that, upon the formation of the Mining 
JV, the State will have a contractual obligation to pay 
an amount of approximately US$23.5 million in respect 
of costs incurred in the development of the Solwara 
1 Project up to January 2011, and to make pro-rata 
capital contributions in respect of subsequent Project 
development costs which, at the end of December 2012 
totalled approximately US$61.2 million (excluding interest). 
No amounts have been recorded in the books of Nautilus 
in respect of these contributions. The State disputes 
that it is required to meet such obligations as it believes 
that Nautilus has not fulfilled its obligations under the 
Agreement. In order to continue the construction of the 
Seafloor Production System, Nautilus has been forced to 
carry the State’s share of Project development costs  
to date.

It has been Nautilus’ preference to resolve the dispute 
with the State by agreement and with that aim Nautilus 
has taken steps to meet with senior representatives of 
the State, including discussions with National Executive 
Council Ministers.
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Vessel joint venture 
On April 13, 2011, the Company announced the formation 
of a strategic partnership with German shipping company 
Harren & Partner (“Harren”).

A joint venture company (the “Vessel JV”) was intended 
to be formed to own and operate a production support 
vessel which will serve as the operational base for Nautilus 
to produce high grade copper and gold ore at its first 
development project, Solwara 1, in the Bismarck Sea of 
Papua New Guinea (“PNG”).

Under the terms of the strategic partnership, Harren was 
to procure the design and construction of the vessel at an 
estimated cost of approximately €127 million.

On delivery, the vessel was to be sold to the Vessel JV 
and it was intended that Harren would hold a 50.01% 
interest. The remaining 49.99% of the Vessel JV was to 
be controlled by Nautilus through a holding company 
in which the PNG government would own a 5% stake 
through its wholly owned company, Petromin. Petromin 
made an initial deposit to Nautilus of approximately $1.8 
million as part payment for that interest. Nautilus prepaid 
$12.9 million to the shipyard Harren contracted with for the 
vessel construction, which was to be converted to equity 
on the formation of the Vessel JV.

On June 1, 2012 Nautilus announced that there may be a 
delay in the finalisation of funding for the vessel to be used 
in connection with its Solwara 1 Project and a potential 
consequential delay to the program for the vessel build. 
In turn, this may result in a delay to the commencement of 
operations at Solwara 1.

Nautilus and Harren had been negotiating the terms of 
third party financing related to the PSV. Harren advised 
Nautilus that it would no longer be able to contribute the 
full amount of the equity to the Vessel JV contemplated 
by the Agreement signed by the parties in April 2011. 
Nautilus indicated at that time that the change to Harren’s 
position may delay the finalisation of the terms of the third 
party funding and result in a consequential delay to the 
program for the vessel build. 

deposit made to shipyard 
The above issues with respect to the vessel construction 
result in a risk of impairment in respect of an amount 
of $12.9 million which was advanced to the shipyard 
proposed by Harren under the Vessel JV. The shipyard 
made an application for insolvency on August 29, 
2012 and is currently in an administration process. 
The Company has since registered a claim with the 
administrator that has been accepted in full, however 
early indications from the process indicate that unsecured 
creditors will likely receive a quota or between 1-3% of 
their claim. While the quota percentages have not been 
finalised the Company has recognised an impairment 
charge of the full carrying amount of $12.9 million given 
the very low quota percentage.

Status of construction contracts 
On November 13, 2012, in order to preserve capital, 
Management and the Board of Directors of Nautilus 
decided to terminate/suspend the construction of its 
Seafloor Production System and the Company therefore 
terminated a number of contracts relevant thereto. All 
of the relevant supplier agreements contain provisions 
for termination without penalty. The Company was also 
forced to reduce staff numbers with approximately 60 
positions made redundant. As at the end of December 
all contracts except for the three key contracts for the 
Seafloor Production Tools, the Subsea Slurry Lift Pump and 
the Riser have been terminated. The Company remains in 
discussions with its three key contractors on how best to 
manage these contracts during this interim period. 

Liquidity and continuing operations 
These financial statements have been prepared on a 
going concern basis, which contemplates the realization 
of assets and settlement of liabilities in the normal course 
of business. 

The Company has no source of revenue and has significant 
cash requirements to be able to meet its administrative 
overhead and maintain its property interests. In order to 
be able to resume the construction contracts and advance 
the development of its mineral property interests, the 
Company will be required to raise additional financing. 
Until that time, certain discretionary expenditures may be 
deferred and measures to reduce operating costs will be 
taken in order to preserve working capital.
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3  Summary of SIgnIfICant aCCountIng 
polICIeS 

The principal accounting policies applied in the 
preparation of these consolidated financial statements 
are set out below. These policies have been consistently 
applied to all the periods presented, unless  
otherwise stated.

3.1  Basis of measurement 
The consolidated financial statements of Nautilus Minerals 
Inc. have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards. The consolidated financial 
statements have been prepared under the historical 
cost convention, as modified by the financial assets and 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity 
with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires management to exercise 
its judgement in the process of applying the group’s 
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree 
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions 
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial 
statements are disclosed in note 3.15.

3.2  consolidation 
The financial statements of the Company consolidate the 
accounts of Nautilus Minerals Inc and its subsidiaries. All 
intercompany transactions, balances and any unrealized 
gains and losses from intercompany transactions are 
eliminated on consolidation.

Subsidiaries are those entities which Nautilus Minerals Inc 
controls by having the power to govern their financial and 
operating policies. The existence and effect of potential 
voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible 
are considered when assessing whether Nautilus 
Minerals Inc controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated from the date on which control is obtained 
by Nautilus Minerals Inc and are de-consolidated from the 
date that control ceases.

These consolidated financial statements include the 
accounts of the Company which is incorporated in 
Canada and all of its subsidiaries. The Company’s 
significant subsidiaries include Nautilus Minerals Niugini 
Limited (Papua New Guinea), Nautilus Minerals Pacific 
Proprietary Limited (Australia), Nautilus Minerals (Tonga) 
#1 Limited, Tonga Offshore Mining Limited (Tonga), 
Nautilus Minerals Singapore Limited and Koloa Moana 
Resources Inc (Canada). 

3.3  Foreign currency translation 
(a) Functional and presentational currency 
The consolidated financial statements are presented 
in United States Dollars, which is the functional and 
presentational currency of Nautilus Minerals Inc. Items 
included in the financial statements of each consolidated 
entity in the Nautilus Minerals group are measured using 
the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The 
functional currency for all significant entities within the 
consolidated group is United States Dollars.

(b) transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the 
rates of exchange at the date of the transaction. Monetary 
assets and liabilities are translated at year-end exchange 
rates. Gains and losses arising on settlement of such 
transactions and from the translation of foreign currency 
monetary assets and liabilities are recognized in the 
statement of loss.

3.4 cash and cash equivalents 
The Company considers cash and cash equivalents 
to comprise amounts held in banks and highly liquid 
investments with maturities at time of purchase of 90 days 
or less. 

3.5 Financial assets 
(a) classification 
The Company classifies its financial assets in the following 
categories: at fair value through profit or loss, loans 
and receivables and available for sale. The classification 
depends on the purpose for which the financial assets 
were acquired. Management determines the classification 
of its financial assets at initial recognition. All of the 
Company’s financial assets are currently classified as loans 
and receivables.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. They are included in current assets, 
except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end 
of the reporting period. These are classified as non-current 
assets. The Company’s loans and receivables comprise 
restricted cash and cash and cash equivalents in the 
balance sheet.
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(b) recognition and measurement 
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are 
recognised on the trade-date – the date on which 
the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus 
transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at 
fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are 
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from 
the investments have expired or have been transferred 
and the Company has transferred substantially all risks 
and rewards of ownership. Loans and receivables are 
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

(c) Impairment of financial assets 
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether 
there is objective evidence that a financial asset is 
impaired. If such evidence exists, the Company recognises 
an impairment loss as the difference between the 
amortized cost of the loan or receivable and the present 
value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted 
using the instrument’s original effective interest rate. The 
carrying amount of the asset is reduced by this amount 
either directly or indirectly through the use of an  
allowance account.

Impairment losses on financial assets carried at amortized 
cost are reversed in subsequent periods if the amount 
of the loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognized. 

3.6  offsetting of financial instruments 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net 
amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a 
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts 
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

3.7  property, plant and equipment 
Equipment is recorded at cost less accumulated 
depreciation. The Company allocates the amount initially 
recognized in respect of an item of property, plant 
and equipment to its significant parts and depreciates 
separately each such part. Residual values, method of 
depreciation and useful lives of the assets are reviewed 
annually and adjusted if appropriate.

Depreciation is calculated over the estimated useful life of 
the assets on a straight-line basis as follows:

Estimated useful life 
(in years)

Leasehold improvements 3

Plant and equipment 3 – 15

Office equipment 1 – 20

Motor vehicles 6 – 8

 
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised 
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. 

3.8  Mineral properties 
All costs directly related to the acquisition of rights to 
explore for minerals are capitalized.

Once the right to explore has been obtained, the 
Company will incur exploration and evaluation 
expenditures to advance an area of interest. Such 
expenditures include:

•  Exploratory drilling;

•  Geological, geochemical and geophysical studies;

•  Trenching and sampling;

•   The depreciation of equipment used in the above 
activities, and

•   Activities involved in evaluating the technical feasibility 
and commercial viability of extracting mineral resources.

The Company expenses all exploration and evaluation 
expenditures until management conclude that a future 
economic benefit is more likely than not to be realized. 
In evaluating if expenditures meet this criterion to be 
capitalized, management considers the following:

•   The extent to which reserves or resources, as defined 
in National Instrument 43-101 have been identified in 
relation to the project in question;

•   The status of cost assessments or scoping studies;

•   The status of environmental permits, and 

•   The status of mining leases or permits.
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Once the Company considers that a future economic 
benefit is more likely than not to be realized from an area 
of interest, all subsequent costs directly relating to the 
advancement of the related area of interest are capitalized. 

Costs for a producing prospect are amortized on a unit-
of-production method based on the estimated life of 
the ore reserves and resources, whereas costs relating to 
abandoned prospects are written off.

The recoverability of the amounts capitalized for the 
undeveloped mineral properties is dependent upon the 
determination of economically recoverable ore reserves 
and resources, confirmation of the Company’s interest 
in the underlying mineral claims, the ability to obtain 
the necessary financing to complete their development, 
and future profitable production or proceeds from the 
disposition thereof.

3.9  Impairment of non-financial assets 
Property, plant and equipment, mineral properties and 
are considered for impairment when events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may 
not be recoverable. If an indicator is identified, the 
asset’s recoverable amount is calculated and compared 
to the carrying amount. For the purpose of measuring 
recoverable amounts, assets are grouped at the lowest 
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash 
flows (cash-generating units or “CGUs”). The recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs 
to sell and value in use (being the present value of the 
expected future cash flows of the relevant asset or CGU). 
An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which 
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its  
recoverable amount.

3.10 Share based payments 
The cost of equity-settled and cash settled transactions 
with employees is measured by reference to the fair value 
at the date at which they are granted and is recognised as 
an expense over the relevant vesting period.

The company grants either stock options or loan shares 
as remuneration for directors and as a part of a long term 
incentive plan for certain employees. Where the shared 
based payment is for remuneration they generally vest 
over 2.5 years (20% every six months) and expire after 
three years. Each tranche in an award is considered a 
separate award with its own vesting period and grant date 
fair value. Where the share based payment is as part of 
a long term incentive plan they generally vest in a single 
tranche 2.5 years from issue and expire after 3.5 years. In 
both instances the fair value of each tranche is measured 
at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes options 
pricing model. 

At each balance sheet date, before vesting, the cumulative 
expense is calculated based on management’s best 
estimate of the number of equity instruments that 
will ultimately vest. The movement in this cumulative 
expense is recognised in the income statement, with a 
corresponding entry in equity.

The proceeds from the exercise of stock options and 
warrants, in addition to the carrying value attributable to 
those options and warrants exercised, are recorded as 
share capital.

3.11 provisions 
Provisions for environmental restoration, restructuring 
costs and legal claims are recognised when: the group has 
a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be 
required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been 
reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future 
operating losses.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the 
expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision 
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

3.12 Income tax 
Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability 
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in 
the financial statements. Deferred income tax is measured 
at tax rates that are expected to apply in periods in which 
the temporary differences reverse based on tax rates and 
law enacted or substantively enacted at the balance  
sheet date.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profit will be available against 
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences 
arising on investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint 
ventures, except where the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable 
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. 

3.13 Share capital 
Incremental external costs directly attributable to the issue 
of new common shares are deducted from share capital. 
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3.14 Loss per share 
Basic loss per share is computed by dividing loss 
attributable to common shareholders by the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding during 
the period. The computation of diluted loss per share 
assumes the conversion or exercise of securities only when 
such conversion or exercise would have a dilutive effect on 
earnings per share. The dilutive effect of outstanding stock 
options and warrants and their equivalents is reflected in 
diluted earnings per share by application of the treasury 
stock method which assumes that any proceeds from the 
exercise of share options or warrants would be used to 
purchase common shares at the average market price 
during the period. During years when the Company has 
generated a loss, the potential shares to be issued from 
the assumed exercise of options and warrants are not 
included in the computation of diluted per share amounts 
because the result would be anti-dilutive. 

3.15 Significant accounting judgements and estimates 
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity 
of IFRS requires the use of judgements and estimates 
that affect the amount reported and disclosed in the 
consolidated financial statements and related notes. These 
judgements and estimates are based on management’s 
best knowledge of the relevant facts and circumstances, 
having regard to previous experience, but actual results 
may differ materially from the amounts included in the 
financial statements. Information about such judgements 
and estimation is contained in the accounting policies and 
notes to the financial statements, and the key areas are 
summarised below.

The areas of judgement that have the most significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in these consolidated 
financial statements are:

•   Review of asset carrying values and impairment 
assessment; and

•   The determination of functional currency.

In considering whether any impairment indicators 
occurred in respect of the Company’s long lived assets as 
at December 31, 2012, management took into account a 
number of factors such as metal prices, projected costs 
to operate equipment, availability and costs of finance, 
cost and state of completion of subsea equipment 
construction, exploration successes in other areas, the 
existence and terms of binding off-take agreements 
and the Company’s market capitalization compared to 
its net asset value. Management has concluded, based 
on this analysis that no impairment indicators existed at 
December 31, 2012 in respect of the Solwara 1 project and 
the subsea equipment currently under construction.

4  CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND 
DISCLOSURES

(a)  New and amended standards adopted by 
the company

There are no IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are 
effective for the first time for the financial year beginning 
on or after 1 January 2012 that would be expected to have 
a material impact on the Company.

(b) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
A number of new standards and amendments to standards 
and interpretations are effective for annual periods 
beginning after 1 January 2012, and have not been 
applied in preparing these financial statements. None 
of these is expected to have a significant effect on the 
financial statements of the Company.

The following is a brief summary of the new standards:

IFRS 10, ‘Consolidated financial statements’, builds on 
existing principles by identifying the concept of control 
as the determining factor in whether an entity should be 
included within the consolidated financial statements of 
the parent company. The standard provides additional 
guidance to assist in the determination of control where 
this is difficult to assess. The Company is yet to assess IFRS 
10’s full impact and intends to adopt IFRS 10 no later  
than the accounting period beginning on or after  
1 January 2013.

IFRS 11, ‘Joint arrangements’, requires a venture to classify 
its interest in a joint arrangement as a joint venture or joint 
operation. Joint ventures will be accounted for using the 
equity method of accounting whereas for a joint operation 
the venture will recognize its share of the assets, liabilities, 
revenue and expenses of the joint operation. Under 
existing IFRS, entities have the choice to proportionally 
consolidate or equity account for interests in joint ventures. 
IFRS 11 supersedes IAS 31, Interests in Controlled Entities 
– Non-monetary Contributions by Venturers. 

IFRS 12, ‘Disclosures of interests in other entities’, includes 
the disclosure requirements for all forms of interests in 
other entities, including joint arrangements, associates, 
special purpose vehicles and other off balance sheet 
vehicles. The Company is yet to assess IFRS 12’s full impact 
and intends to adopt IFRS 12 no later than the accounting 
period beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

IFRS 13, ‘Fair value measurement’, aims to improve 
consistency and reduce complexity by providing a 
precise definition of fair value and a single source of fair 
value measurement and disclosure requirements for use 
across IFRSs. The requirements, which are largely aligned 
between IFRSs and US GAAP, do not extend the use of fair 
value accounting but provide guidance on how it should 
be applied where its use is already required or permitted 
by other standards within IFRSs or US GAAP.

There are no other IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are 
not yet effective that would be expected to have a material 
impact on the Company.
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5 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

December 31, 2012  
$

December 31, 2011  
$

Cash 7,306,529 81,719,355          

Term Deposits 50,499,936 67,728,439          

57,806,465 149,447,794          

 
6 PREPAYMENTS

Current Prepayments

December 31, 2012  
$

December 31, 2011  
$

Insurance 540,213 494,486

Other prepayments 135,778 269,574

675,991 764,060

Non-current prepayments

December 31, 2012  
$

December 31, 2011  
$

Advance to shipyard 12,933,620 12,933,620

Impairment charge (12,933,620) -

- 12,933,620

 
7 INCOME TAX

a) a reconciliation of income taxes at statutory rates with the reported taxes is as follows:

December 31, 2012  
$

December 31, 2011  
$

Loss before income taxes (40,982,142) (34,045,323)

Canadian statutory tax rate 25.00% 26.50%

Income tax recovery based on the above rates (10,245,536) (9,022,011)

Increase/(decrease) due to:

Non-deductible expenses and other 2,310,196 401,286

Effect of change in Canadian and foreign future tax rates (47,489) (786,903)

Tax effect of tax losses and temporary differences not 
recognized 7,982,829 9,407,628

Income tax expense/(recovery) - -
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7 INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 
 
(b) the significant components of the company’s future income tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

December 31, 2012  
$

December 31, 2011  
$

Future income tax assets

Non-capital losses 30,365,106 23,522,091

Capital losses 3,202,641 3,254,448

Unamortized share issue costs 185,605 220,559

Unrealized foreign exchange losses and other 12,700,960 13,907,286

   Mineral properties and property, plant and equipment 39,554,055 37,121,154

Total future income tax assets 86,008,367 78,025,538

Less: Tax benefits not utilised (86,008,367) (78,025,538)

Net future income tax assets - -

(c)  the company has non-capital loss carry forwards of $106,911,113 that may be available for tax purposes.   
the loss carry forwards expire as follows:

Canada 
$

Australia 
and Tonga 

$

Papua 
New Guinea 

$

2018 - - 22,898

2019 - - 6,092

2020 - - 9,612

2021 - - 12,454

2022 - - 69,883

2023            238,811 - 54,543

2024            359,701 - 15,710

2025            204,287 - 154,309

2026          2,670,040 - -

2027          5,146,422 - -

2028            194,470 - -

2029          6,065,374 - -

2030          6,187,826 - -

2031          5,680,443 - -

2032 1,907,686 - -

Not limited - 77,910,552 -

Total non-capital losses 28,655,060 77,910,552 345,501
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8 RESTRICTED CASH 

$2,319,663 (December 31, 2011 - $2,270,955) has been provided as security for leases, letter of credit in favour of 
contractors, tenements held in Papua New Guinea and Fiji, superannuation bank accounts held on behalf of employees, 
and electricity and information technology deposits. 

9 MINERAL PROPERTIES 

In 2006, the Company through its 100% owned subsidiary Nautilus Minerals Niugini Ltd acquired a 100% interest in 
certain PNG subsea exploration licenses by issuing common shares with an estimated fair value of $12,213,367 to Barrick 
Gold Inc., following its acquisition of Placer Dome. 

Following the grant of the mining lease (ML154) for the Solwara 1 deposit on January 13, 2011 the Company believes 
that an economic benefit is more likely than not to be recovered from the Solwara 1 deposit and, accordingly, has 
commenced capitalizing exploration and evaluation costs associated with the Solwara 1 deposit. 

December 31, 2012  
$

December 31, 2011  
$

Opening balance 30,906,586          12,213,367

Boat charter and fuel 2,028,093 5,748,729

Drilling - 6,293,450

Engineering services 1,417,987 2,073,013

Environmental consulting 304,394 86,925

Project management and oversight 5,672,004 3,683,943

Geological services and field expenses 431,677 750,796

Mineral property fees 17,921 56,363

9,872,076 18,693,219

Closing balance 40,778,662 30,906,586

The Company has titles granted and applications lodged that provide the Company with rights to explore for minerals 
in offshore PNG, Tonga, Fiji, Vanuatu, the Solomon Islands, the Azores, Italy and the Clarion Clipperton zone in the 
“area beyond national jurisdiction” in the eastern Pacific Ocean. In addition, the Company has lodged exploration or 
prospecting applications in the exclusive economic zone of New Zealand.

Although the Company has taken steps to verify title to mineral properties in which it has an interest, in accordance with 
industry standards for the current stage of exploration or development of such properties, these procedures do not 
guarantee a clear title. Property title may be subject to unregistered prior agreements and regulatory requirements. The 
Company is not aware of any disputed claim of title. 
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10 PROPERTY PLANT & EQUIPMENT

Year Ended December 31, 2012

Opening  
Cost  

Balance 
$

Additions 
$

Disposals  
$

Closing  
Cost  

Balance 
$

Accumulated  
Depreciation 

$

Closing 
Carrying  

Value 
$

Leasehold improvements 813,415 2,468,024 (520,964) 2,760,475 (578,723) 2,181,752

Plant and equipment 767,484 3,323 - 770,807 (411,376) 359,431

Office equipment 2,758,787 439,056 - 3,197,843 (2,408,399) 789,444

Motor vehicles 165,562 - - 165,562 (72,488) 93,074

Land 466,969 - - 466,969 - 466,969

Subsea equipment under 
construction

84,350,615 81,925,046 - 166,275,661 - 166,275,661

Total property, plant & 
equipment 89,322,832 84,835,449 (520,964) 173,637,317 (3,470,986) 170,166,331

Year Ended December 31, 2011

Opening  
Cost  

Balance 
$

Additions 
$

Disposals  
$

Closing  
Cost  

Balance 
$

Accumulated  
Depreciation 

$

Closing 
Carrying  

Value 
$

Leasehold improvements 627,325 186,090 - 813,415 (615,430) 197,985

Plant and equipment 771,151 2,574 (6,241) 767,484 (310,881) 456,603

Office equipment 2,367,404 391,383 - 2,758,787 (2,113,537) 645,250

Motor vehicles 162,794 2,768 - 165,562 (52,549) 113,013

Land 112,337 354,632 - 466,969 - 466,969

Subsea equipment under 
construction

26,984,140 57,366,475 - 84,350,615 - 84,350,615

Total property, plant & 
equipment 31,025,151 58,303,922 (6,241) 89,322,832 (3,092,397) 86,230,435
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11 COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT

Key management includes the company’s directors and members of the Executive Committee. Compensation awarded 
to key management included:

December 31, 2012  
$

 December 31, 2011 
$

Salaries and short-term employee benefits 4,159,319 3,390,052

Redundancy and annual leave paid on termination 915,949 -

Stock based compensation 858,161 805,323

Superannuation payments 230,619 253,008

6,164,048 4,448,383

12 EQUITY

(a) Common shares issued

  During the year a total of 37,673,124 (2011 – 38,927,857) common shares were issued in two tranches of a private 
placement with an issue price of C$0.90 (2011 – C$2.52).  Total net proceeds of $34.1 million (2011 - $96.4 million) 
were received.

(b)  Share options

  1,125,000 share options were granted during the year ended December 31, 2012 and 900,000 during the year ended 
December 31, 2011.

(c) Loan shares

  4,000,000 loan shares were issued during the year ended December 31, 2012 and 200,000 during the year ended 
December 31, 2011.

  The Company’s share loan plan (the “Loan Plan”) was approved by the Company’s shareholders at the Annual 
General Meeting in July 2011. The Loan Plan provides for security-based compensation in a manner similar to a 
stock option plan by enabling participants to acquire an equity interest in the Company using a limited recourse loan 
provided by a subsidiary of the Company.

  The Loan Plan provides for loans to be made to eligible employees who will apply the proceeds toward a 
subscription for shares. The loans will be made by a subsidiary of the Company and the shares issued by Nautilus will 
be registered in the name of an administrative agent for the benefit of the applicable employee. 

  The loans will not bear interest, and the Lender’s recourse will be limited to the value of the shares. If the employee 
elects to sell the shares, the proceeds will be used to repay the loan and any brokerage and other fees, and the 
employee will be entitled to any remaining balance.

  Employees can only elect to sell the shares if the then-current market price is greater than the subscription price paid 
for those shares, such that the net proceeds of the sale will equal or exceed the outstanding loan balance in respect 
the shares being sold.

  An employee may, during the term of the loan, elect to repay the loan and become the registered holder of the 
shares. If an employee ceases to be eligible to participate in the Loan Plan or if the term of the loan expires before 
the loan is repaid, the administrative agent will return the shares to the Company, and both the loan and the shares 
will be cancelled.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 (expressed in US Dollars)
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12 EQUITY (CONTINUED)

outstanding share options

Share options

Weighted average 
exercise price  

C$

At January 1, 2011 10,996,000 2.67

Granted 900,000 2.91

Exercised (1,475,000) 1.32

Forfeited (809,000) 3.23

Expired (978,000) 2.70

At December 31, 2011 8,634,000 2.87

Granted 1,125,000 0.93

Exercised (243,000) 1.26

Forfeited (621,000) 1.61

Expired (4,695,000) 5.17

At December 31, 2012 4,200,000 1.77

Information relating to share options outstanding at December 31, 2012 is as follows:

Price range 
C $

Outstanding 
share options

Vested stock 
options

Weighted average 
exercise price 

of outstanding 
options 

C $

Weighted 
average 

exercise price of  
vested options 

C $

 Weighted average 
remaining life 

of outstanding  
options 

(months)

0.00 – 0.99          900,000          -          0.91          -          33.0

1.00 – 1.99          1,525,000          1,300,000          1.39          1.45          10.9          

2.00 – 2.99          1,775,000          1,175,000          2.53          2.43          12.2          

4,200,000 2,475,000 1.77 1.92 16.2

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 (expressed in US Dollars)
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12 EQUITY (CONTINUED)

outstanding loan shares

Loan Shares

Weighted average 
exercise price  

C$

At January 1, 2011 - -

Granted 200,000 2.91

At December 31, 2011 200,000 2.91

Granted 4,000,000 1.00

Forfeited (1,150,000) 1.01

At December 31, 2012 3,050,000 1.13

No loan shares were purchased during the year ended December 31, 2012 or for the year ended December 31, 2011.

Information relating to loan shares outstanding at December 31, 2012 is as follows:

Price range 
C $

Outstanding 
share loan 

shares
Vested loan 

shares

Weighted average 
exercise price 

of outstanding 
loan shares 

C $

Weighted 
average 

exercise price of  
vested loan 

shares 
C $

 Weighted average 
remaining life 

of outstanding  
loan shares 

(months)

0.00 – 0.99          200,000          -          0.91          -          33.0

1.00 – 1.99          2,650,000          -          1.01          -          39.3          

2.00 – 2.99          200,000          80,000          2.91          2.91          20.0          

3,050,000 80,000 1.13 2.91 37.6

 
The fair value of the share options and loan shares granted is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 (expressed in US Dollars)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 (expressed in US Dollars)

12 EQUITY (CONTINUED) 

options granted  
in 2012

Options granted 
in 2011

Expected dividend yield Nil Nil

Expected stock price volatility 76.33% 71.44%

Risk-free interest rate 1.16% 1.20%

Expected life of options in years 3 3

The weighted average fair value of the options granted was C$0.46 (2011 – C$1.30). 

loan shares 
granted in 2012 

Loan Shares  
granted in 2011

Expected dividend yield Nil Nil

Expected stock price volatility 74.17% 71.44%

Risk-free interest rate 1.22% 1.20%

Expected life of loan shares in years 3 3

The weighted average fair value of the loan shares granted was C$0.46 (2011 – C$1.30).

The Black-Scholes pricing models used to price options and loan shares require the input of highly subjective 
assumptions including the estimate of the share price volatility.  Changes in the subjective input assumptions can 
materially affect the fair value estimate.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 (expressed in US Dollars)

13 EXPLORATION EXPENDITURES

       Year ended December 31,

2012 
$

2011 
$

Boat charter and fuel 1,748,526 3,391,217

Drilling - 6,767,491

Engineering services - 50,880

General and administration 207,491 114,055

Geological services and field expenses 399,502 212,806

Mineral property fees 965,578 1,286,071

Professional services 82,354 59,641

Travel 310,278 208,340

Wages and salaries 3,108,119 2,122,288

Total operating expenses 6,821,848 14,212,789                   

In order to maintain the exploration leases, licenses and permits in which the Company is involved, the Company is 
expected to fulfil the minimum annual expenditure conditions under which the tenements are granted. These obligations 
may be varied from time to time, subject to approval, and are expected to be fulfilled in the normal course of operations 
of the Company. The exploration commitments are based on those exploration tenements that have been granted 
and may increase or decrease depending on whether additional applications are granted, relinquished or form joint 
ventures in the future. Based on tenements granted at December 31, 2012, total rental commitments are $4.0 million and 
total expenditure commitments are $51.6 million over the life of the licenses, which in the majority of cases extend to a 
maximum of two years, with the exception of the CCZ tenements that extend out 5 years.

14 GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATION EXPENDITURES

       Year ended December 31,

2012 
$

2011 
$

Office and general 4,039,442 3,544,872

Professional services 2,684,032 3,504,540

Salary and wages 8,702,784 7,574,363

Shareholder related costs 587,676 709,058

Travel 1,107,773 1,369,124

Depreciation 899,555 511,538

Total general and administration expenses 18,021,262          17,213,495                    
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15 CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

(a) commitments 
  
Non-cancellable commitments

December 31,  
2012 

$

Non-cancellable operating leases

Not later than 1 year 1,021,467

Later than 1 year and not later than 2 years 1,018,891

Later than 2 years and not later than 3 years 527,716

Later than 3 years and not later than 4 years 36,541

Later than 4 years and not later than 5 years 21,459

Total commitments 2,626,074

Cancellable commitments

In order to maintain the exploration leases, licenses and permits in which the Company is involved, the Company 
is committed to fulfil the minimum annual expenditure conditions under which the tenements are granted. These 
obligations may be varied from time to time, subject to approval, and are expected to be fulfilled in the normal course 
of operations of the Company. The exploration commitments are based on those exploration tenements that have been 
granted and may increase if applications are granted in the future. 

The Company has entered into various contracts for the design and build of the seafloor production system.  As at 
December 31, 2012, the committed value of the contracts is $68.9 million (equivalent).  During 2012, a number of 
contracts were terminated to allow the Company to preserve cash while the dispute with the PNG government is 
resolved, and contracts with SMD, GE Hydril and General Marine Corporation were continued at reduced rates of 
progress.  The committed value of $68.9 million reflects ongoing milestone payments for continuing contracts.  The 
contracts are cancellable by the Company at any time, however, in the event of cancellation, the Company is liable for 
any costs incurred up to that point, with an estimate of costs for terminated contracts included in the accrued costs at 
year end.  No other penalties or cancellation fees are payable under these contracts.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 (expressed in US Dollars)



NAUTILUS MINERALS INC.  2012 ANNUAL REPORT

61

16 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign exchange risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The 
Company’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to 
minimise potential adverse effects on the Company’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out under policies approved by the board of directors. The board provides written principles 
for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate 
risk, credit risk and investment of excess liquidity.

(i) Capital management 
The Company’s objectives in the managing of the liquidity and capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern and provide financial capacity to meet its strategic objectives.  The capital structure of the Company 
consists of equity attributable to common shareholders, comprising of issue share capital, contributed surplus and deficit.

The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and 
the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.  To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may attempt to 
issue new shares, issue new debt, acquire or dispose of assets to facilitate the management of its capital requirements.  
The Company prepares annual expenditure budgets that are updated as necessary depending upon various factors, 
including successful capital deployment and general industry conditions.  The annual and updated budgets are 
approved by the Board of Directors.  As at December 31, 2012 the Company does not have any long-term debt and 
is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.  The Company has sufficient funds to meet its current 
operating and exploration and development obligations.

(ii) Foreign exchange risk 
The Company’s operations are located in several different countries, including Canada, Australia, PNG, Tonga, Solomon 
Islands, Fiji and New Zealand and require equipment to be purchased from several different countries. Nautilus has 
entered into key contracts in United States dollars, British pounds sterling and euros.  Future profitability could be 
affected by fluctuations in foreign currencies. The Company has not entered into any foreign currency contracts or other 
derivatives to establish a foreign currency protection program but may consider such actions in the future.

Foreign exchange risk is mitigated by the Company maintaining its cash in a “basket” of currencies that reflect its current 
and expected cash outflows.  As at December 31, 2012 the Company held its cash in the following currencies:

Currency  
Denomination

% of total cash in US$ 
terms held

USD 38

GBP 14

AUD 14

EUR 1

CAD 33

100

(iii) Credit risk 
The company places its cash only with banks with an S&P credit rating of A+ or better.  Our maximum exposure to credit 
risk at reporting date is the carrying value of cash and cash equivalents and other receivables.

(iv) Liquidity risk 
The Company manages liquidity by maintaining adequate cash and short-term investment balances.  In addition, the 
Company regularly monitors and reviews both actual and forecasted cash flows.  The exposure of the Company to 
liquidity risk is considered to be minimal.

 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 (expressed in US Dollars)



Management Team

Mr. Michael Johnston, Nautilus’ interim CEO joined the Company 
in 2006 as the Vice President for Strategic Development and 
Exploration. He was appointed interim President and CEO in 
October 2012. During his time with Nautilus, Mr. Johnston has been 
instrumental in the Company developing its extensive land position 
in the SW Pacific, delivering the first resource in accordance with NI 
43-101 for a seafloor massive sulphide system, and in obtaining the 
first licence granted to a publicly listed company by the International 
Seabed Authority. 

With more than 25 years of experience in the mining industry, 11 of 
which were with Placer Dome, and a further 6 years with Nautilus, 
Mr. Johnston, brings to Nautilus a strong knowledge of the mining 
industry, people, decision makers, and laws throughout PNG and 
the Asia-Pacific region. He also has extensive ore reserve and project 
evaluation experience, a track record of finding ore bodies, and a 
strong understanding of all aspects of deep sea mining, through his 
management of Placer Dome’s involvement in the Solwara Projects.

Prior to joining Nautilus in 2010, Ms Hauff was the General Counsel 
and Company Secretary of then ASX listed mineral sands mining 
company, Bemax Resources Limited, after having spent 6 years at 
international legal firm, Norton Rose (formerly Deacons) as a Senior 
Associate in its Commercial Dispute Resolution group. Ms. Hauff is 
an admitted solicitor of the Supreme Court of Queensland and the 
Federal and High Courts of Australia with 13 years experience in legal 
practice, including in the areas of risk management, compliance and 
corporate governance

Ms. Norgate joined Nautilus Minerals in 2006 as Chief Financial 
Officer. Prior to this, Ms. Norgate was the financial controller of 
Macarthur Coal Ltd., which is a publicly-listed coal mining company 
on the Australian Securities Exchange. Before joining Macarthur, 
Ms. Norgate was the financial controller of a listed exploration 
company for seven years and commenced her career as an auditor 
with a predecessor firm of PricewaterhouseCoopers in Australia. 
Ms. Norgate is a qualified Chartered Accountant and a member of 
the Chartered Secretaries of Australia. 

Ms. Norgate has over 15 years commercial experience in the 
resources industry including debt and equity finance, financial 
reporting, project management, corporate governance, commercial 
negotiations and business analysis.

Kevin Cain joined Nautilus as Project Director for Solwara 1 Project 
in May 2010. Kevin has over 35 years experience in the offshore oil 
and gas industry with experience in the North Sea, Middle East, 
South East Asia and Australasia. Mr. Cain’s experience covers 
shallow and deep water projects and FEED to development of 
offshore projects. Prior to joining Nautilus, Mr. Cain was the Vice 
President Marine Construction and Fabrication for Clough Limited 
with assets located in the Gulf of Mexico, Thailand, Australia and 
South East Asia. Prior to joining Clough, Mr. Cain was Project 
Director for Technip Oceania.

KEVIN CAIN   
VP – Projects

KAREN HAUFF   
Company Secretary

MICHAEL JOHNSTON  
President and CEO (Interim)

SHONTEL NORGATE   
Chief Financial Officer 
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Dr. Smith joined Nautilus in 2006 as Manager – Environment and 
later became Manager – Environment and Community before being 
promoted to Vice President – Corporate Social Responsibility. Dr. 
Smith has more than 17 years experience conducting environmental 
assessments with experience in Mexico, Canada, UK and Papua New 
Guinea. Prior to joining Nautilus, Dr. Smith lectured at the University 
of Bristol and the University of Toronto and worked as a consultant 
to Placer Dome Gold.  Dr. Smith also serves as an Officer (President-
elect) of the International Marine Minerals Society and is a steering 
committee member of the European Union/Secretariat of the Pacific 
Community Deep Sea Minerals Assessment Project.    

Mr. Mel Togolo has over 30 years of experience in senior roles, 
working for industry and government in Papua New Guinea and 
abroad. He was President of the Business Council of Papua New 
Guinea for six years and continues to remain an Executive on 
the Council. 

Mr. Togolo has represented industry at the board level, including 
roles at Westpac Bank PNG Limited, Highlands Gold Limited and 
Bougainville Copper Limited, and was also Deputy Chairman of 
the Investment Promotion Authority of Papua New Guinea. He is 
Chairman of the Board of National Superannuation Fund Limited.

In January of 2004, Mr Togolo was appointed Commander of the 
Most Excellent Order of the British Empire (CBE) for his services 
to commerce and industry. Prior to his appointment at Nautilus he 
worked for ten years as the General Manager of Corporate Affairs at 
Placer Dome Niugini Limited.

Mr. Lowe joined Nautilus in January 2007 as Chief Geophysicist. 
He was appointed as Exploration Manager in September 2008 
and Interim VP of Strategic Development in January 2013. Prior to 
joining Nautilus Minerals, Jonathan worked for BHP Billiton where 
he gained 12 years of global exploration experience, initially as a 
geophysicist and then as a business development manager.

Mr. Taumoepeau grew up in Tonga, before going overseas to pursue 
academic studies. He returned to Tonga in 1992 working firstly in the 
public sector before moving to the private sector. Mr. Taumoepeau 
spent 13 years with the National Reserve Bank of Tonga, where he 
filled numerous positions, setting up domestic market and corporate 
services systems. Prior to his appointment at Nautilus he worked for 
Leiola Group Limited, where he was the General Manager in his last 
two years. Mr. Taumoepeau is Vice President of the Tonga Chamber 
of Commerce & Industry and is the chairman of the Pacific Islands 
Private Sector Organisation (PIPSO).

SAMANTHA SMITH   
VP – Corporate Social Responsibility

JONATHAN LOwE  
VP – Strategic Development 

and Exploration (Interim)

PAUL TAUMOEPEAU   
Tonga Country Manager

MEL TOGOLO   
PNG Country Manager



NAUTILUS MINERALS INC.  2012 ANNUAL REPORT

64

Nautilus is committed to the pursuit of high standards 
of corporate governance, reflecting not only applicable 
legal and regulatory requirements but also having 
regard for global developments in relation to corporate 
governance best practice. We have adopted an approach 
of continuous improvement to review and develop 
appropriate policies and supporting systems to ensure 
transparency and the integrity of our business practices.

Mandate of the Board of Directors 

•    Setting Nautilus’ strategic objectives;

•   Evaluating corporate risks and opportunities;

•   Approving annual budgets;

•   Monitoring performance against such budgets;

•   Promoting ethical and responsible corporate conduct;

•   Addressing succession planning;

•   Evaluating Board needs and performance; and

•    Fostering a system of effective, accurate and timely 
public disclosure.

Overview of Committee Mandates

Specific responsibilities have been delegated to two Board 
Committees which have access to independent expertise 
at the Company’s expense.

Audit Committee

The function of the Audit Committee is to assist the 
Board in fulfilling its responsibilities associated with the 
preparation and independent audit of the Company’s 
accounts, its external financial reporting, its internal control 
structure, risk management systems and audit function. 
The Audit Committee operates in accordance with a 
charter adopted by the Board. The Audit Committee 
consists of three Board members who are all independent. 

These board members are:

• Russell Debney

• Matthew Hammond

• Cynthia Thomas

Nomination and Remuneration Committee

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is 
responsible for, among other things, reviewing the 
remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer and other 
senior executives, establishing criteria for membership 
of the Board and its committees, and processes for 
the identification of suitable candidates, and reviewing 
management succession. These Committee members are:

• Geoff Loudon

• Cynthia Thomas

• Russell Debney 

Special Committee

As a matter of good corporate governance and in the best 
interests of the Company as a whole, a Special Committee 
of the Board of Directors has been formed. The Special 
Committee is comprised of directors of the Company 
who are independent of management and any potential 
conflict of interest for the purpose of considering issues 
relevant to the Company with the objective of maximizing 
value for all shareholders and reporting to the Board with 
respect thereto. These Committee members are:

• Geoff Loudon

• Cynthia Thomas

• Russell Debney 

Corporate Governance



Moving ForwardNAUTILUS MINERALS INC.

Corporate Office 
141 Adelaide Street West, Suite 1702 
Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5H 3L5 
www.nautilusminerals.com 
email: investor@nautilusminerals.com

Registered Office 
10th Floor, 595 Howe Street 
Vancouver, British Columbia 
Canada V6C 2T5

Investor Relations Inquiries 
TSX: NUS 
OTCQX: NUSMF 
email: investor@nautilusminerals.com 
Tel: +61 7 3318 5555 
 +1 416 551 1100

Media Relations Inquiries 
email: media@nautilusminerals.com 
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Moving Forward

The past year proved challenging for Nautilus Minerals  

as the Company, in order to conserve cash, terminated 

its non-critical contracts relating to the seafloor 

production system. Nautilus did however make 

significant progress in exploration including the 

discovery of more high grade SMS deposits in Tonga 

and the announcement of a major inferred maiden 

polymetallic nodule resource in the central Pacific 

Ocean. Nautilus is focused on “Moving Forward”  

as it steadily progresses with its objective to develop 

the deep water seafloor resource production industry.

Regarding forward-looking information:

“ This Annual Report includes forward-looking statements and information. The disclosure in the MD&A on page 28 under the heading “Cautionary 
Note Regarding Forward Looking Statements” also applies to the disclosure elsewhere in this Annual Report. In addition, regarding the use of 
proceeds of the rights offering, management will have broad discretion in this respect. While the Company intends to use the net proceeds as 
described, future results from the Company’s operations, external events or other sound business reasons may make it desirable for the Company 
to re-allocate some or all of the net proceeds. Management may use the net proceeds of the rights offering in ways that an investor may not 
consider desirable. The results and the effectiveness of the application of the proceeds are uncertain. If the proceeds are not applied effectively, 
the Company’s results of operations may suffer.”

Regarding forward-looking information:

“ Other than as specifically disclosed in respect of Tables 1, 2 and 4, the technical and scientific information in this Annual Report has been reviewed 
and approved by Michael David Johnston, President & CEO (interim) of the Company and a qualified person under NI 43-101.”
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This Annual Report is printed with the environment in mind using 
FSC® certified paper containing 10% post consumer recycled 
content and certified fiber, it’s the optimal environmental choice.
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Christopher R. Weekes 
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Institutional and individual investors seeking financial 
information about the Company are invited to contact 
the Investor Relations team:
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